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INTRODUCTION 

1. Qui tam Relators Franka Tirado ("Tirado") and Brian Snyder ("Snyder"), by their 

attorneys, individually and on behalf of the United States of America and the State of Florida, 

file this Complaint against Defendants Park Royal Hospital ("PRH"), Acadia Healthcare 

("Acadia"), Lee Health ("Corporate Defendants"), Mike Ham ("Ham"), and John Hull ("Hull") 

("Individually Named Defendants") (all collectively, "Defendants") to recover damages, 

penalties, and attorneys' fees for violations of the Federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729, et 

seq. and the Florida False Claims Act, Fla. Stat.§ 68.081, et seq. 

2. The Defendants operate PRH like a prison. Patients are: 

a. admitted even though they are ineligible for treatment, 

b. forced to stay for weeks beyond their discharge date, 

c. administered sub-standard drug treatment that PRH is ineligible to provide, 

d. converted from voluntary to involuntary admission status, 

e. drugged into submission, and 

f. subjected to electroconvulsive shock therapy without their consent. 

3. Discussed more fully below, Defendants' conduct results in severe patient harm 

and the submission of false claims for payment to the United States and the State of Florida. 

4. PRH is a Medicare-certified psychiatric hospital with two facilities. One PRH 

facility in Fort Myers, Florida, provides outpatient medical services and currently has about 115 

patient beds for acute inpatient care. A second PRH facility in Naples, Florida, provides only 

outpatient psychiatric services. 

CONFIDENTIALAND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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5. PRH opened in March 2012 and is the only inpatient psychiatric hospital in Lee 

County, Florida. 

6. Approximately 80 percent of PRH patients are Medicare and/or Medicaid insured. 

7. Acadia operates a network of behavioral health facilities across the country and 

acquired PRH in November 2012. 

8. Ham, an Acadia employee, began serving as the Chief Executive Officer of PRH 

in August 2015. 

9. Hull, Acadia's Divisional Chief Executive Officer, oversees 60 to 70 Acadia 

facilities, including PRH. 

10. Established in 1916, Lee Health is the largest healthcare system in Southwest 

Florida. Lee Health operates out of more than 100 locations, including four acute care hospitals 

and two specialty hospitals. Lee Heath's flagship facility, Lee Memorial Hospital, is a 355-bed 

acute care facility located in Fort Myers, Florida. 

11. The Defendants are violating or have violated the False Claims Act1 in at least 

two ways: 

a. PRH bills Medicare and Medicaid for services not rendered, for medically 

unnecessary services, and for services it is ineligible to provide; and 

b. Pursuant to an unlawful kickback arrangement, PRH sends patients to hospitals 

within the Lee Health system for non-psychiatric medical services that are billed 

to Medicare and Medicaid, including services never rendered to these patients in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b, et seq. 

Because both the elements of the Federal and the Florida False Claims Acts are largely 
the same, references to the "False Claims Act" or "FCA" include both the state and federal 
causes of action, unless otherwise indicated. 

CONFIDENTIALAND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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12. The Defendants' unlawful business practices have endangered many patients -

some have even resulted in patient deaths- and cost the U.S. Government and taxpayers millions 

of dollars. 

13. When Snyder disclosed his concerns about PRH's unlawful business practices, 

PRH terminated his employment. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

14. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 31 U .S.C. § 

3732(a), 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

15. Snyder's federal cause of action for unlawful retaliation is authorized by 31 

U.S.C. § 373O(h). 

16. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 

3732(a) because the Corporate Defendants conduct business within this judicial district and the 

Individually Named Defendants are domiciled in or conduct business within this judicial district. 

17. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 139l(c) and 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) 

because the illegal acts giving rise to this action occurred within this judicial district, because the 

Corporate Defendants conduct business within this judicial district, and because the Individually 

Named Defendants are domiciled or conduct business within this judicial district. 

THE PARTIES 

Relator Franka Tirado 

18. Tirado is a citizen of the United States and a resident of Maryland. 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
United States and State of Florida ex rel. Franka Tirado, et al. v. Park Royal Hospital, et al. 
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19. Tirado is the "original source" of this information within the meaning of 31 

U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4)(B) and states that her knowledge of the information contained herein has not 

been publically disclosed. 

20. Tirado is longtime healthcare executive with a Master's degree in Health Care 

Administration from the University of Maryland. 

21. Tirado also completed a Graduate Certificate in Corporate Compliance from 

George Washington University. 

22. Tirado moved to Florida and worked for PRH starting in 2016 as Director of Risk 

Management and Quality Improvement. 

23. Tirado was responsible for overseeing PRH's accreditation and licensure. 

24. Tirado also handled patient grievances, physician credentialing, and day-to-day 

risk management and quality issues. 

25. Tirado resigned from PRH in September 2016 because of PRH's unlawful 

business practices. 

Relator Brian Snyder 

26. Snyder is a citizen of the United States and a resident of Florida. 

27. Snyder is the "original source" of this information within the meaning of 31 

U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4)(B) and states that his knowledge of the information contained herein has not 

been publically disclosed. 

28. Snyder graduated from the University of Maryland with a Bachelor of Arts in 

Psychology. 

29. Snyder later earned a Master of Science degree in Mental Health Counseling from 

Shippensburg University. 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
United States and State of Florida ex rel. Franko, Tirado, et al. v. Park Royal Hospital, et al. 
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30. Snyder joined PRH in October 2015 as PRH's Utilization Review Specialist. 

31. Snyder received a promotion to Admissions Director in April 2016. 

32. As Admissions Director, Snyder managed the admissions department and 

emergency room for the hospital; tracked patient, business, and insurance data; and participated 

in leadership activities. 

33. PRH terminated Snyder in February 2017 after Snyder repeatedly disclosed 

concerns about PRH's unlawful business practices. 

Defendant Park Royal Hospital 

34. PRH is a Medicare-certified psychiatric hospital with two facilities. One PRH 

facility in Fort Myers, Florida, provides outpatient medical services and currently has about 115 

patient beds for acute inpatient care. A second PRH facility in Naples, Florida, provides only 

outpatient medical services. 

35. According to U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") filings, Park 

Royal Hospital is the business name for the corporate entity known as The Pavilion at 

Healthpark. 

36. PRH secured Florida state approval in September 2012 to accept patients under 

Florida's Baker Act, where patients can be involuntarily detained for a psychiatric evaluation 

because of concern by law enforcement or family members that the individuals pose a safety risk 

to themselves or others. 

3 7. PRH employs psychiatrists, social workers, therapists, primary care physicians 

(contracted), mental health technicians, and nurses who provide inpatient and outpatient services 

for the treatment of many psychiatric conditions such as depression, anxiety, mood disorders, 

CONFIDENTIALAND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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memory problems, post-traumatic stress disorder, other mental illnesses, and co-occurring 

substance abuse disorders. 

38. PRH accepts Medicare, Medicaid, and private insurance. 

39. Approximately 80 percent of PRH patients are Medicare and Medicaid insured. 

40. Even though PRH is only allowed to admit patients requiring emergency medical 

care for mental illness, PRH routinely admits insured patients for inpatient treatment at PRH who 

do not require emergency medical care for mental illness and extends the stay for insured 

patients to the maximum number of days they are covered under their insurance plans regardless 

of medical necessity. 

41. To the extent PRH actually accepts uninsured individuals, PRH discharges 

uninsured patients earlier than insured patients. 

42. PRH reported in its 2014 annual report total net revenue of $23,574,538, 

$21,839,414 for inpatient care and $1,735,124 for outpatient care, a jump from PRH's reported 

total net revenue of $17.5 million in 2013. 

Defendant Acadia Healthcare 

43. Headquartered in Franklin, Tennessee, Acadia was established in January 2005 to 

develop and operate a_network of behavioral health facilities across the country. Altogether, 

Acadia operates a network of 573 behavioral healthcare facilities with approximately 17,100 

patient beds in 39 states, the United Kingdom, and Puerto Rico. 

44. Acadia bought PRH in November 2012 for $33.4 million in cash and assumed 

PRH's debts. 

45. In a July 29, 2016, SEC quarterly filing, Acadia reported total revenue of $756 

million for the quarter, which was up 66.8 percent on a year-to-year basis. 

CONFIDENTIALAND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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Defendant Lee Health 

46. Founded in 1916, Lee Health consists of four acute care hospitals (Lee Memorial 

Hospital, HealthPark Medical Center, Gulf Coast Medical Center, and Cape Coral Hospital) and 

two specialty hospitals (Golisano Children's Hospital of Southwest Florida and The 

Rehabilitation Hospital). 

4 7. Lee Health is the largest public health system in the State of Florida with a total of 

1,426 patient beds and more than one million patient contacts every year .. 

48. Before PRH opened, PRH was under contract with Lee Health to run the 15-bed 

Senior Behavioral Care program at Lee Memorial Hospital. The patients and staff moved to the 

new hospital in August 2012. 

49. At the time of the announcement, Lee Health President and Chief Executive 

Officer Jim Nathan said he expected Lee Health to be actively involved with Acadia. 

Defendant Mike Ham 

50. Ham is an Acadia employee and has been the Chief Executive Officer of PRH 

since August 2015. 

51. Before his assignment to PRH, Ham served as the Chief Executive Officer of the 

following facilities: 

a. Heartland Behavioral Health Services in Nevada, Missouri; 

b. Saint Simons By-The-Sea in St. Simons, Georgia; 

c. Acadia-owned Greenleaf Hospital in Valdosta, Georgia; 

d. Acadia-owned North Tampa Behavioral Health in Wesley Chapel, Florida; and 

e. Acadia-owned Village Behavioral Health in Louisville, Tennessee. 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
United States and State of Florida ex rel. Franka Tirado, et al. v. Park Royal Hospital, et al. 
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Ham does not have a college degree, medical training, or a license to practice medicine, yet 

Ham, along with Hull, directs PRH's patient admission, discharge, and care decision processes. 

Defendant John Hull 

52. Hull is Divisional Chief Operating Officer for Acadia and overseas 60 to 70 

Acadia facilities, including PRH. 

53. Before becoming Division Chief Executive Officer for Acadia, Hull served as 

Chief Executive Officer for PRH and Group Chief Executive Officer for Acadia, a role in which 

Hull oversaw approximately a dozen Acadia facilities, including facilities that Ham worked at 

prior to his starting at PRH. 

54. Hull, along with Ham, participates in and directs PRH's patient admission and 

care decision processes. 

BACKGROUND 

I. About Medicare, Medicaid, and Inpatient Psychiatric Facilities 

55. Medicare is a federal health insurance program for people age 65 or older, people 

under age 65 with certain disabilities, and people of all ages with end-stage renal disease 

(permanent kidney failure requiring dialysis or a kidney transplant). 

56. Medicare offers eligible beneficiaries Part A hospital insurance, Part B medical 

insurance, and prescription drug coverage. 

57. Medicare Part A helps cover inpatient care in hospitals, including inpatient 

psychiatric facilities (IPFs). 

58. IPFs are paid under the IPF Prospective Payment System. 

59. In order to be paid under the IPF Prospective Payment System, IPFs must: 

CONFIDENTIALAND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
United States and State of Florida ex rel. Franka Tirado, et al. v. Park Royal Hospital, et al. 
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a. Provide certification at the time of admission, or as soon thereafter as is 

reasonable and practicable, that the patient needs, on a daily basis, active inpatient 

treatment furnished directly by or requiring the supervision of IPF personnel; 

b. Provide the first re-certification as of the 12th day of hospitalization; 

c. Provide subsequent re-certifications at intervals established by a utilization review 

committee, but no less than every 30 days that the patient continues to need, on a 

daily basis, active inpatient treatment furnished directly by or requiring the 

supervision of IPF personnel; 

d. Furnish services while the patient is receiving either active psychiatric treatment 

or admission and related services necessary for diagnostic treatment; and 

e. Furnish patients active psychiatric treatment that can be reasonably expected to 

improve his or her condition. 

60. Medicare patients who are treated for psychiatric conditions in specialty facilities 

are covered for 90 days of care per illness with a 60-day lifetime reserve and for 190 days of care 

in freestanding psychiatric hospitals. 

61. Under the IPF Prospective Payment System, IPFs receive additional payments for 

treating patients with electroconvulsive therapy. 

62. Medicaid is a state run program that covers medical expenses for people with low 

or limited incomes. 

63. All states offer a variety of Medicaid programs that help people with Medicare 

costs. 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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64. For services that both Medicare and Medicaid cover, Medicare pays first and 

Medicaid second by covering the remaining patient costs, such as Medicare co-insurances and 

co-payments. 

65. A portion of every state's Medicaid program, including Florida's, is funded by the 

federal government. In Florida, the federal government funds approximately 60 percent of the 

state's Medicaid program. 

II. How Medicare Claims Are Submitted and Paid 

66. Medicare claims may be electronically submitted to a Medicare Administrative 

Contractor from a healthcare provider using a computer with software that meets electronic filing 

requirements as established by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 

(HIPAA) claim standard and by meeting Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS") 

requirements. 

67. Providers that bill institutional claims are also permitted to submit claims 

electronically via direct data entry screens. 

68. Medicare can send payments directly to a provider's financial institution whether 

claims are filed electronically or on paper. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

69. Defendants are endangering patients to game Medicare and Medicaid for profits 

in two ways: 

a. Defendants bills Medicare and Medicaid for medically unnecessary services, 

services never rendered, and services for which Defendants are ineligible to 

provide; and 

CONFIDENTIALAND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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b. Defendants are engaged in an unlawful kickback arrangement in which PRH 

sends Medicare and Medicaid patients to hospitals within the Lee Health system 

for non-psychiatric medical services that are billed to Medicare and Medicaid -

including medically unnecessary services and services never rendered to PRH's 

patients - and Lee Health compensates PRH for admitting and treating uninsured 

patients. 

I. Defendants Bill Medicare and Medicaid for Medically Unnecessary Services and 
Services Never Rendered 

70. Defendants engage in four schemes to bill Medicare and Medicaid for medically 

unnecessary services, services never rendered, and services for which Defendants are ineligible 

to bill: 

a. PRH inappropriately admits individuals who do not meet IPF criteria for inpatient 

treatment, including insured individuals who can never reasonably be expected to 

improve from treatment; 

b. PRH admits individuals who do meet IPF criteria for inpatient treatment but 

inappropriately keeps them longer than is medically necessary; 

c. PRH inappropriately and unlawfully treats involuntarily admitted patients with 

electroconvulsive therapy; and 

d. Defendants inappropriately operate a revolving door between PRH and PRH's 

halfway homes. 

71. Unlike the insured patients who stay at PRH until they have maximized their 

insurance, most uninsured patients are not even admitted to PRH even if they require emergency 

medical care for mental illness. 

CONFIDENTIALAND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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72. PRH's admission rate for Medicare and Medicaid individuals is substantially 

higher than uninsured individuals. 

73. Defendants Ham and Hull participate and exert significant levels of influence in 

PRH's patient admission, discharge, and care decisions. 

74. While Hull has some medical expelience, Ham has no medical trai ning or license 

to practice medicine. 

75. Both Ham and Hull pressure PRH staff to admit insured individuals who are not 

medically eligible for inpatient care and to keep insured patients until their insurance runs out 

regardless of medical need. 

76. Ham meets daily with most of PRH 's directors. 

77. Tirado and Snyder participated in the daily staff meetings with Ham. 

78. Ivan Mazzorana, PRH s Chief Medical Officer, is almost never present at the 

daily staff meetings with Ham, even though PRH's organizational chmt shows that he is second 

in command on the Leadership team. 
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79. During the daily staff meetings, Ham reviews the patient census and, based on the 

availability of insurance coverage, tells staff who to discharge and who to keep. 

80. A June 2014 PRH patient census shows a list of patients, patient admission dates, 

patient discharge dates, length of stay ("LOS") and insurer, as well as the total number of 

patients, average patient LOS by insurer, and total balances owed by insurer. 

81. The June 2014 PRH patient census report indicates that: 

a. PRH admitted more Medicare patients, 

b. The average LOS for PRH patients with Medicare was longer than PHR patients 

with other insurers, and 

c. The total Medicare claims for payment were higher than for other insurers. 

82. Self-pay refers to patients who have paid up front for their care regardless of 

insurance status and is therefore not synonymous patients who are uninsured. The below 

screenshot does not capture those patients who are truly "uninsured" and from whom PRH does 

not anticipate receiving payment. 

CONFIDENTIALAND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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83. Ham orders PRH staff to discharge uninsured patients that are admitted to PRH 

almost immediately and to keep insured patients admitted to PRH until their insurance runs out, 

regardless of medical need. 

84. However, PRH does admit and keep uninsured individuals who courts order 

involuntarily admitted under Florida's Baker Act and uninsured individuals who Lee Health 

compensates PRH to treat pursuant to a kickback scheme described below. These patients drive 

up the average LOS for uninsured pa6ents. 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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85. Ham makes decisions about which patients to keep for continued treatment and 

which patients to discharge based solely on insurance coverage. 

86. One way in which Ham games Medicare and Medicaid is to require that substance 

abuse patients who are cleared to be discharged on a Thursday or Friday be held over the 

weekend before release. 

87. An employee of Lee Memorial Health had Lee Memorial Health's Director of 

Case Management, Christine Massey, contact Relator Tirado for help in getting the employee's 

husband released after he was cleared to be discharged on a Thursday or Friday but ordered by 

Ham to be kept over the weekend. 

88. This allows PRH to bill for an additional three or four days of medically 

unnecessary treatment. 

89. Ham proposes false medical reasons to the physicians for keeping patients and 

intimidates physicians when they recommend patients for discharge. 

90. When a patient's insurance runs out, Ham insists members of PRH's Utilization 

Review Committee contact the patient's insurance provider to request approval to keep the 

patient additional days. 

91. Whereas Medicare and Medicaid have lifetime caps on the number of days 

covered for treatment, commercial insurers approve patients for a set number of days for 

treatment at IPFs. 

92. Ham sends physicians coded text messages about not discharging patients, such as 

"We have [X] discharges today, I really need your help," or something to that effect. 

93. Hull often joins Ham's daily staff meetings when he visits PRH. 

CONFIDENTIALAND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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94. At an early February 2017 daily staff meeting, Hull insisted on discussing every 

patient and the necessity of discharging insured patients or keeping uninsured patients. 

95. At the same February 2017 staff meeting, Hull said "Guys, I'm going to have to 

go back to Tennessee and explain why my division is $800,000 short this month, and half that is 

Park Royal," or words to that effect. Hull then looked at Jorge Diaz, PRH's Staff Psychiatrist, 

and indicated he wanted Diaz to keep insured patients who were scheduled for discharge, saying, 

"Help me out here. I could lose my job over this man. Help me out," or words to that effect. 

96. At the same February 2017 staff meeting, Hull told Eric Rosmith, PRH's Director 

of Outpatient Services, "get [the discharges] under control" and blamed Rosmith for how many 

insured patients were being "let go," or words to that effect. 

97. Both Hull and Ham are concerned about "days on the table," which refers to the 

number of days insurers authorize PRH to keep patients if they are needed. 

98. Patient records for patients who are kept at PRH when not medically necessary 

show they have normal symptoms, that they are alert, and that they are of sound mind and 

judgment, yet many are not discharged until weeks later. 

99. PRH also uses code words in patient records to justify keeping patients when not 

medically necessary while evading detection by Medicare and Medicaid, including but not 

limited to the following: 

a. "no new psychiatric complaints"; 

b. "once a bed becomes available"; 

c. "maximum therapeutic gain"; 

d. "awaiting a safe discharge"; 

e. "pending discharge plan"; 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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f. "discharge pending while"; 

g. "maximized treatment"; and 

h. "returned to baseline." 

100. When these code words appear in a patient's chart, that is a signal that the patient 

should be eligible for discharge but that PRH has kept the patient on census anyway. 

101. PRH also uses code words in patient records when discharging uninsured patients 

even if they require additional treatment for emergency medical care for mental illness, including 

but not limited to the following: 

a. "Atlanta list"; 

b. "at least 3 counties for discharge"; and 

c. "lack capacity." 

A. Scheme 1: PRH inappropriately admits insured individuals who do not meet IPF 
criteria for inpatient treatment. 

102. There are two subgroups of insured individuals PRH admits for inpatient 

treatment that do not meet IPF criteria for inpatient treatment. 

103. First, PRH admits insured individuals who do not require emergency medical care 

for mental illness and/or whose conditions cannot improve at the time of their admission, 

including individuals with developmental disabilities and geriatric patients who suffer from 

dementia or Alzheimer's disease. 

104. PRH admits these insured individuals even though only those who require 

emergency medical care for mental illness and whose conditions can improve are eligible for 

inpatient treatment at IPFs. 
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105. Another Acadia-owned facility, Valley Behavioral Health System in Arkansas was 

fined approximately $180,000 after a CMS audit revealed a similar practice there. 

106. Second, PRH admits insured individuals for substance abuse treatment and 

rehabilitation services who do not require emergency medical care for mental illness, including 

insured individuals who do not meet the medical definition of substance abuse and/or would not 

benefit from treatment. PRH can only render substance abuse treatment to individuals who also 

require emergency medical care for mental illness. 

107. PRH also denies patients' requests for discharge even though they do not meet 

IPF criteria for admission and their continued treatment at PRH is medically unnecessary. 

108. When denying requests for discharge from voluntarily admitted patients, PRH 

changes their admission status from voluntary to involuntary and list them as Baker Act patients, 

which allows PRH to detain them for at least three additional days for assessment and treatment. 

109. In addition to billing Medicare and Medicaid for the medically unnecessary 

services PRH renders to these patients, PRH also bills Medicare and Medicaid for rehabilitation 

and other therapeutic services PRH never rendered to these patients. 

B. Scheme 2: PRH admits insured individuals who do meet IPF criteria for 
inpatient treatment and inappropriately keeps them longer than is medically 
necessary. 

110. There are two subgroups of insured individuals PRH admits for inpatient care 

who meet IPF criteria but PRH keeps longer than medically necessary and bills Medicare and 

Medicaid for their care. 

111. First, PRH keeps patients who are involuntarily admitted and kept after their 

psychosis is under control and/or when they no longer present a threat to themselves and others. 
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112. Second, PRH keeps patients who are voluntarily admitted after their psychosis is 

under control and/or when they no longer present a threat to themselves and others. 

113. IPFs are not supposed to keep patients - irrespective of whether they are 

involuntarily or voluntarily admitted - after their psychosis is under control and/or when they no 

longer present a threat to themselves and others. 

114. In order to maximize their billing to Medicare and Medicaid, PRH denies these 

patients' requests for discharge even when their psychosis is under control and/or when they no 

longer present a threat to themselves and others. 

115. When denying requests for discharge from voluntarily admitted patients, PRH 

changes their admission status from voluntary to involuntary. 

116. Ham also pressures physicians to extend the Against Medical Advice/Right To 

Release period from 24 to 72 hours in order to maximize billing. 

11 7. Other schemes for keeping patients include but are not limited to refusing to give 

patients Right To Release forms, denying transportation, not coordinating follow-up or discharge 

planning, and not contacting family until the morning of the patient's discharge in which patients 

stay additional days if the patient's family lives two hours away and cannot immediately pick up 

the patient. 

118. In addition to billing Medicare and Medicaid for the medically unnecessary 

services PRH renders to these patients, PRH also bills Medicare and Medicaid for rehabilitation 

and other therapeutic services PRH never rendered to these patients. 
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C. Scheme 3: PRH inappropriately and unlawfully treats involuntarily admitted 
patients with electroconvulsive therapy. 

119. PRH administers electroconvulsive therapy ("ECT") to patients without their 

consent and bills Medicare and Medicaid for the ECT treatment. 

120. Patients treated with ECT are connected to a heart and brain monitor, given an IV, 

administered medication to paralyze their muscles, given foam bite blocks to bite down on, and 

connected to flashlight-shaped paddles coated with a blue conductive gel that are placed on their 

head. 

121. Following a quick buzzing sound, patients' bodies tense for about five seconds. 

122. Patients typically wake a minute or so after the procedure and are sent off to a 

recovery area until the anesthesia fully wears off. 

123. Published studies suggest that ECT treatment leads to memory loss and may be 

far more dangerous for the elderly than medication alone. 

124. The State of Florida regulates ECT treatment usage. 

125. Under Florida law, only consenting patients can receive ECT. 

126. Nevertheless, PRH administers ECT to patients involuntarily admitted to PRH 

under Florida's Baker Act that allows patients to be involuntarily detained for a psychiatric 

evaluation. 

127. Patients admitted to IPFs for treatment under Florida's Baker Act are deemed 

legally incompetent to provide express and informed consent to voluntary admission and 

treatment. 

128. Nevertheless, PRH administers ECT to involuntarily admitted patients who are 

admitted under Florida's Baker Act and legally incompetent to provide express and informed 

consent for ECT treatment. 
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129. PRH changes the admission status of patients from involuntary to voluntary to 

treat them with ECT without their consent and then changes their admission status back to 

voluntary after treating them with ECT. 

130. PRH bills Medicare and Medicaid for the inappropriate and unlawful ECT 

treatments administered to involuntarily admitted patients. 

131. A PRH record shows that from January 1, 2014, to June 30, 2014, more PRH 

patients with Medicare were involuntarily admitted to PRH under Florida's Baker Act law than 

patients with other insurers combined and that PRH patients with Medicare who were 

involuntarily admitted to PRH under Florida's Baker Act law stayed longer at PRH than patients 

with other insurers combined. 

Parle Royal Hospital 
Baker Act Impact 
MD6/30/14 

Jan Feb March April May June YTD 
Admits 

Blue Cross 20 16 19 11 12 12 90 
Comm. 19 32 26 32 23 24 156 
Humana 3 0 3 
Medicare 82 71 73 76 85 84 471 
Medicaid 1 0 1 
Self Pay 11 10 6 9 5 11 52 
Tricare 1 3 0 4 

0 
Total admits 136 130 U7 128 125 131 777 

Patient Days 
Blue Cross 265 149 180 184 112 96 986 
Comm. 362 339 191 293 198 183 1566 
Humana 38 0 38 
Medicare 1206 907 897 1051 1116 806 5983 
Medicaid 23 0 23 
Self Pay 179 84 378 44 30 83 798 
Tricare 17 u 0 29 

0 
Total Patient Days 2073 1496 1658 1572 1456 1168 9423 

132. From January 1, 2014, to June 30, 2014, Medicare paid PRH more for the 

treatment of patients involuntarily admitted to PRH under Florida's Baker Act than other insurers 
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combined. Medicare paid PRH $2,449,430 compared with a total of $1,211,343 that all other 

insurers combined paid PRH for the treatment of patients involuntarily admitted to PRH under 

Florida's Baker Act. 

133. PRH also administers ECT to voluntarily admitted patients who did not meet 

criteria for inpatient treatment. 

134. PRH charts "patient needs ECT" as a reason to admit voluntarily admitted 

patients who do not meet criteria for inpatient treatment and administers three to five treatments 

before discharging them. 

D. Scheme 4: Defendants operate a revolving door between PRH and PRH's 
halfway homes. 

135. PRH uses its halfway homes as a revolving door to readmit patients for additional 

treatment even though they do not meet the criteria for readmission and bills Medicare and 

Medicaid for their care. 

136. PRH owns halfway homes called Park Royal Recovery Residences that are 

located in high-crime areas where it is likely that a patient will relapse. 

13 7. Because Medicare and Medicaid coverage regenerates after patients are 

discharged, PRH sends male substance abuse patients to live at PRH's halfway homes where 

they relapse and are readmitted to PRH for additional treatment, even though they have not 

relapsed long enough to require substance abuse treatment. 

138. A single day of drug use, for example, is insufficient to justify lengthy and 

expensive detoxification treatment, yet PRH readmits former patients for three weeks of 

treatment or longer after a single day of drug use. 
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139. After they are again discharged, PRH sends the patients back to PRH's halfway 

homes. 

140. The process continues over and over again, creating a revolving door between 

PRH and its halfway homes. 

141. PRH also collects approximately $400 or $500 in rent from former patients living 

at PRH's halfway homes. 

142. Many residents living at PRH's halfway homes are Social Security Disability 

Insurance beneficiaries or receive other public assistance that they use to pay their rent. 

143. PRH consequently benefits from the U.S. Government and State of Florida twice 

from Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries also receiving public assistance who are admitted for 

inpatient treatment at PRH and live at PRH's halfway homes. 

E. Specific patient examples of defendants' unlawful business practices. 

144. The below patients, identified by initials, are examples of patients that PRH 

inappropriately and unlawfully admitted, treated, and billed Medicare and Medicare for services 

that were medically unnecessary, were never rendered, or PRH was ineligible to provide them. 

Patient B.P. 

157. After admitting Patient B.P. for inpatient treatment at PRH, PRH kept Patient B.P. 

even though Patient B.P. 's stay was not medically necessary, transferred Patient B.P. to one of 

PRH's halfway homes, and readmitted Patient B.P. after Patient B.P. relapsed even though 

Patient B.P. did not meet the criteria for readmission to PRH for inpatient treatment. 
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158. PRH paperwork for Patient B.P. shows that PRH first admitted Patient B.P. for 

inpatient treatment at PRH on October 23, 2016, and discharged Patient B.P. on November 9, 

2016. 

I PARK ROYAL HOSPITA~ 
o~nGNOSES / PROCEDURES VA~IOA i ~v~ PAGE: 1 

Date: 
Time: 

11/10/16 
15:16:02 

PATIENT NAME: 
PATIENT NO: 964394 
ADMISSION ~ATE: 10/ 23 / 16 
FC: M Ml:.lJICJ:tRE 

CHART NO: 000067789 
AGE: 35 SEX: MALE 
HISTORY NO: 000067789 

PHYSICIAN: 00004 

DISCHARGE DATE : ll / 09 / 16 
SRV:AWl ACUTE DUAL DIAG 
DISCHARGE STATUS: 01 DISCP...Z\RGED HOME/SELF 

159. PRH paperwork for Patient B.P. dated November 2, 2016, shows that Patient 

B.P. 's stay at PRH was medically unnecessary. 

1 
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I 60. Patient B.P. had a drug relapse and PRH readmitted Patient B.P. for inpatient 

treatment on November 21, 2016. 

161. As stated above, PRH is not licensed to provide stand-alone drug detox services. 

Rather, the patient must require emergency care for mental illness in order to be admitted. 

162. Patient B.P. did not require emergency medical care for mental illness. Therefore 

Patient B.P. did not meet the criteria for readmission to PRH for inpatient treatment. 

163. PRH paperwork for Patient B.P. shows that Patient B.P. was a Medicare patient. 

PARK ROYAL HOSPITAL 

9241 Park Royal Drrve • Ft Myers, FL 33908 • (239) 985-2700 

Pr.one AOE 

M Jl2~ / B 

ADV DIR: 

ADMIT BY: 

u 

'l'lN 

0 0U 06 "/189 

1 OltlEfl 

!Jlifill~~!fll:'C======= f blRTH ,LAC£ 

.=::..:==-;;:-,=c=-t-..=~ ....... wVER "'"" Addrn Pliant A ..r,,r.a...,.,11•-r,;e----~--1 

rnc::e ~, 

CONTACT 21''•"'•• AcldBJ•,._ Pno""- llt]ltlO•Olllp) 

REL : 

I I_ 

Patient 0.0. 

lQ/';.J/: • 17 1 3 

l!DLEVEl. 
u 

umllflJRvst ,,,.,.,.!"°Nu!!!!!!!) 

/,!;1.1\.M ZAH£EP 
~241 PAAY. HOYAL D~IV~ 
~•or..'l' MYE'kS Pl. 

))90& 

I.SJ.AM U,IIRER 
92~J ~AA~ kOYA~ j MI VY. 
fOP1 l~Yl!k!; l'L 

31908 
PHOllt:: M 1 

164. PRH admitted Patient 0.0. for inpatient treatment, kept Patient 0 .0. after Patient 

0.0. was stable and safe for release, transferred Patient D.O. to one of PRH's halfway homes, 
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and readmitted Patient 0.0. after Patient 0.0. relapsed even though Patient D.O. did not meet 

the criteria for readmission to PRH for inpatient treatment. 

145. PRH paperwork for Patient D.O. shows that PRI-l first admitted Patient D.O. for 

inpatient treatment on October 16, 2016, and discharged Patient 0 .0. on November 9, 2016. 

PATIENT NAME 

146. Patient D.O. 's Progress Note dated October 21, 2016, lacks any information that 

would justify a continued stay at PRH. The Progress Note says that Patient 0.0. was "pleasant," 

"cooperative,' "alert and oriented x4," "not psychotic at thjs time," and "denies suicidal, 

homicidal ideas, plans or intents." The Progress Note also states that Patient 0 .0. 's tentative 

discharge date was October 25 or October 26, 2016. 
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PROGRESS NOTE 

DATE: 10/21/2016 

SUBJECTI VE: Patient is seen, chan reviewed. Staff consulted. 

At this time, the patient is stuling "I feel more hopeful." 

He hns improved on his medications. He has not presented with any adverse side e!Tccts. 

MENTAL STATUS EXAJ\I: I le is pt.:asam, cooperative. Easily cngogt:tl. He 1s alert and oriented x4. 
His speech is clear, coherent, goal-directed. Mood remains depressed cmd anxious, but much lcss so 
than on admission. I !is affect is full range and appropriate to mood. Patient i!. nlll psychouc at this time. 
He 1s cognitively intact. He dumcs suie1d11I, homicidal ideas, plans or intents. I-Ji~ insight is good. His 
judgment is good. His impulse control 1s intact 

DIAGKOSTIC ll\IPRESSIO : 
1. Major depressive disorder, recurrent, severe, without psychosis (f-33.2). 
2. History of hepatitis C. 
3. Hypertension. 
4. Chronic right knee pain. 

PLAN: Continue present management. 

Tc111nuvc discharge date IO '25 10 I 0/26.2016. 

Juan Rodriguez, MD (Dute and Time) 

D: 10/2112016 15:34:27 EST 
T: 10/21/2016 15:36:50 EST/MISl388111260366 
JOBI/: 2801815 

147. Patient D.O. 's Progress Note dated October 24, 2016, also lacks any info rmation 

that would justify a continued stay at PRH. The Progress Note says that Patient D.O. " is alert," 

"pleasant, cooperative, easily engaged," and '·not psychotic at this time." Instead, the basis for 

Patient D.O. 's stay appears to be discharge was "[p]ending at this time wlli le a safe and 

appropriate setting is found fo r thjs patient for this patient's discharge." [sic] Merely looking for 

placement for an otherwise healthy individual is not an appropriate basis for continuing inpatient 

therapy services. 

148. As provided above, these are fa lse "code words' that indicate PRH is merely 

rwming up the bill to Medicare for a patient that does not need treatment services. 
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PROGRESS NOTE 

DATE: 10/24/2016 

Patient seen, chart reviewed, staff consu.lled. 

s BJECl"I VI-.:: At this time, the patient 1s rc.;latively stable. but he remains dcpn:ssed_and anxious. He 
has not presented with any ndversc sick effects ofmedi1;1.1tions at this time. We have discussed 

clectroconvulsivc thcrapy (EC I ), bul he n.:f"uscs. 

~1 F,'ITA L s· 1 ATllS: The pat icnt 1., ah:n. he ,~ n11cntcd x4. He is pleasant c()(1pcra11vc, easily . 
cnga¥,cd. llis mood is ocprc:.scd 11ml anxious. I hs affect is constnctcd, but a!1propnatc_to mood. He 1s 
not p~ydwtu; at tlw, tune I lei:-. cogmtt, cl) 1nta..:t His insight is good. His Judgment 1s good. H1s 

impulse control is intact. 

IMPRESSION: 
1. Major depressive disorder, recurrent, severe, without psychosis, F33.2. 
2. Polysubstance use. 
3. History of hepatitis C. 
4. Hypertension. 
5. Chronic right knee pain. 

PLAN: Continue present managcmcnt. 

TE!\TA TIVE DISCHARGE: Pending at this time while a safe and appropriate setting 1s found for 

this patient for this pati • ll's discharge. 

I 1/ b 11.Y 
riguez. MD ~t~i'.nc) 

D: 10/24/2016 15:29:08 EST 
T: I 0/24/2016 I 5:31 :29 EST/MIS 1532/11267782 
JOB#: 2804772 

149. Patient D.O. 's Progress Note dated October 31, 2016, shows that Patient D.O. 's 

previous tentative discharge date of October 25 or October 26, 2016, was changed to November 

2 or November 3, 201 6. This is despite the fact that there is no indication that Patient D.O. 

required an additional week of medical treatment. 
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PROGRESS NOTE 

DATE: 10/3 1/2016 

Patient seen. Chart reviewed. Staff consulted. 

"I feel pretty good today." 

At this time, the patient continues depressed but less than when last seen by me on Friday. He has not 
presented with any signs or symptoms of acute withdrawal at this time. He has not presented with any 
adverse side effect of medications. 

MENTAL STATUS: TI1e patient is alert. He is oriented x4. He is pleasant, cooperative, easily 
engaged. His speech is clear, coherent, goal directed. He is not psychotic at this time. His mood is 
depressed and anxious. His affect is full range and appropriate to mood. He is cognitively intact. I le 
denies suicidal or homicidal ideas, plans or intents. His insight is good. His judgment is good. His 
impulse control is intact. 

DIAGNOSTIC IMPRESSION: 
1. Major depressive disorder, recurrent, severe, without psychosis, F33.2. 
2. Hepatitis C. 
3. Hypertension. 
4. Chronic right knee pain. 

PLAN: We will continue present management at this time. 

Tentative discharge 11 /02 or 11/03/2016. 

D: I0/31/201614:21:32 EST 
T: 10/31 /2016 14:23:39 EST/M1S1 525/l 1294261 
JOBI/: 2815372 

150. PRH ultimately discharged Patient D.O. on November 9, 2016. 

15 I. PRH placed Patient D.O. at one of its halfway homes. 

152. PRH readmitted Patient D.O. for inpatient treatment on November 17, 2016. 
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~ertificatlon of Person's Competence 
To Provide Express and Informed Consent 

I have personally examined" ___ ,,_...... _______ __, a person being served at ______ _ 
facility on _______ _,,20 __ at _____ am pm. 

Express and informed consent means consent voluntarily given in writing, by a competent pen;on, after sufficient explanation and disclosure of the sul7ject matter involved to enable the person to make a knowing and willful decision without any element of force, fraud, deceit, duress, or other form of constraint or coercion. 

This person is 18 years of age or old~. is not now known to be incapacitated with a guardian, is not now known to be incompetent to consent to treatment 'o/ith a guardian advocate, and docs not have a health care surrogate or proxy currently making medical treatment decisions. I have found this person to be one of the folJowing: 

VOLUNTARY (#1) 

~etent to provide express and informed consent, ac; de.fined above, for voltllltary admission to this facility and is competent to provide express and informed consent for treatmcnL He/she has the consistent capacity to make well reasoned, willful, and knowing decisions concerning his or her medical or mental health treatment. The person fuJly and consistently understands the purpose of the admission for examination/placement and is fully capable of personally exercising all rights assured under section 394.459, F.S. 

BAKER ACT INCOMPETENT (#2) 

D Incompetent to provide express aµd informed consent to voluntary admission. and thus is incompetent to provide express and informed consent to ireatment. The person must be transferred to involuntary status and a petition for a guardian advocate filed with the ~ircuit Court. . . 

BAK.ER ACT COMPETENT (#3) 

D Refusing to provide express and ibfonned consent to voluntacy admission but is competent to provide express and informed ent for treatment. 'lµe person must be discharged or transferred to involuntary status. 

Si 

_j_ I I l# tJN6t!'--- ~ 
Typed or Printed Name of Physician 

Form shall be completed within 24 hoµrs of a person's arrival at the receiving facility and filed In the clinical record of each person: 
1. Admitted on a voluntary basis 
2. Permitted to provide express and infonned consent to his/her own treatment. 
3. Allowed to transfer from involuntary to voluntary status 
4. Prior to permitting a person to con~ent to his or her own treatment after having been previously found incompetent to consent to treatment. : 

Sees. 394.459(3}, 394.4625(l)(f), FlorictJ Statutes 
CF-HH 3104, Feb 05 (obsoletes previoµs editions) (R.ccommcnded Form) 

HSV1 AD2 
DOB: 08/25/1918 AGE: 38 SEX: M 
AD?UT1 10/16/16 RM/BED: 3126 /A 
It.Tr I RODRIGUEZ JUAN #: 22 
MR#: 000068210 PAT #1 0964303 
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t. 

153. Patient D.O. did not require emergency medical care for mental illness. Therefore, 

Patient D.O. did not meet the criteria for readmission to PRH for inpatient treatment. 

154. PRH paperwork for Patient D.O. shows that Patient D.O. was a Medicare patient. 

PARK ROYALBOSPITAL 

Patienl Name:· 
Patient ID Number: 

r.,.,J,drlmcnt ofHl:alth &. Hummi Services· 
Ccntcn for Medicare & Medicaid Servi~ 
0MB Approval No. 0938-0692 

Physician: 

An lmpoJ1ant. Message ·From Medicare About Your. Rights 

As A Bospjtal Inpatient, Yon Have The Rip.t .To: 

• Receive Medicare covered services. This includes medically necessary }lospital ~ervices and services you 
may need after "you are discharged, if ordered ~y your doctor. You haven right lo know ab9ut th~e 
services, who will pay for them, and where you can.get them. 

Be involved~ any decisions about your he>spital i;tay,-and know who 'will pay for it. 

Report any concerns you have about the quality of care you receive t~ the Quality lmproyement 
Organization (QIO) listed here: FMOAI, 5201W. Kennedy BouJcvard, Suite 900, Tampa, FL 33609 
1 (866}.800-8754 TfY/fDD# 1 (866} 800-8753 • 

Your Me~care.Ojscharge .Rights 

Planning For Your Discharge: During your hospital stay, the hospital sta.ff will be workin.g'with you to 
prepare for yow: safe discharge and a,rrange for services yo1.1: m~y rieed after you leave the hospital. When you 
no longer n~ inpa~cnt hospital ~:y9ur doctor or the ·hospital staff will .inform you of your planned 
discharge date. 

H you think you are being disclu~rged too soon: 
• You·can ~~~hospital staff, your doctor and your managed care plan ·cu you belong to on~) about 
~~~ . 

• Yqu also ~ve the right to an. appeal, ·that is, a review of yo~ case by a Quality.Jmprovement . 
Organization (Q~O). The QIO is ~ outside reviewer hired by Medicare to look at your case ·to decide 
whether you are ready to ·1eav~ the hospital. . • . • • • • • . • • • • · 

a • H you want to appeal, you must co~tac~ the QIO DO lat~ than your planned discruµ-ge date 
and.before you leave the hospital~ • • • 

a Ifyo~ c1o tJ:us,.you will not have·to··pay fo(thc services you ~eive during ihe appeal (except ror 
charges lile copays and dcd-qctiblcs). • • • • 

~ . . . . 
• If yo~ d~. noi appeal, ·but 4ecide ~o stay in the· hospital past your ptanned discharge ·date, you may have to 

pay .for ·any s~ces yoti receiv~ after that date. • • 
Step by step instructions: f on~ling the. QIO and filiiig rui appeal are on page 2. 

To. spea,k with someo~e at the 1i9~pital about this ~ti~,· (?&if (239) 9:85-2700 x 128 • 

Pleas~ sign an.d date here to show· you received ~ n~ticc and ~derstand your rights. I .Date/T-im_c _____ _ 

ttSV: AD2 
)8 sEX: H 

1>081 OB/25/lCJ/i! A:/a£P: )126 /A 
ADMIT• lO/lli JU1'N It, 22 
A'M'• RODR1Gl.JB7. PAT II 1 096,'303 
MR II• 000068210 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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Patient F.M. 

155. PRH treated Patient F.M. with ECT even though Patient F.M. had been admitted 

involuntarily under Florida's Baker Act. 

156. Patients admitted to IPFs under Florida's Baker Act are legally incompetent to 

provide express and informed consent to ECT treatment, and Florida law requires patient consent 

for ECT treatment. 

157. PRH admitted Patient F.M. approximately a dozen times. 

158. PRH paperwork for Patient F.M. from April 15, 2016, shows that Patient F.M. was 

admitted involuntarily under Florida's Baker Act and legally incompetent to provide express and 

informed consent to ECT. 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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, 
( 

Certification of Person's Competence 
To Provide Express and lnfonned Consent 

1 have personally examined-· _______ _ , a person being served at __ _ 
______________ facility on ________ , 20 __ at _____ am pm. 

Express and informed consent means consent voluntarily given in writing, by a competent person. after sufficient 
explanation and disclosure of the subject matter involved to enable the person to make a knowing and willful decision 
without any element of force, fraud, deceit, duress, or other form of constraint or coercion. 

This person is 18 years of age or older, is not now known to be incapacitated with a guardian, is not now known to be 
incompetent to consent to treatment with a guardian advocate, and does not have a health care surrogate or proxy 
currently making medical treatment decisions. I have found this person to be one of the following: 

VOLUNTARY (#1) 

0 Competent to provide express and informed consent, as defined above, for voluntary admission to this facility and is 
competent to provide express and informed consent for treatment. He/she has the consistent capacity to make well 
reasoned, willful, and knowing decisions concerning his or her medical or mental health treatment. The person fully 
and consistently understands the purpose of the admission for examination/placement and is fully capable of 
personally exercising all rights assured under section 394.459, F.S. 

BAKER ACT INCOMPETENT (#2) 

~ncornpetent to provide express and infonned consent to voluntary admission. and thus is incompetent to provide 
~press and informed consent to treatment. The person must be transferred to involuntary status and a petition for a 

guardian advocate filed with the Circuit Court. 

CT COMPETENT (#3) 

Rcfusin to rovide express and informed consent to voluntary admission but is competent to provide express and 
1 informed se t for treatment. llte person must be discharged or transferred to involuntary status. 

FL 62315 

License Number 

Ivan Mazzorana, Jr., MD 

Typed or Printed Name of Physician 
Lf /i<J /[p 

Date 
f" ?.),,pm 
Time 

Form shall be completed within 24 hours of a person's arrival at the receiving facility and filed in the clinical record of each 
person: 
1. Admitted on a voluntary basis 
2. Permitted to provide express and informed consent to his/her own treatment. 
3. Allowed to transfer from involuntary to voluntary status 
4. Prior to permitting a person to consent to his or her own treatment after having been previously found incompetent to 

consent to treatment. 

HSV1 ADl 
DOB1 10/14/1976 AGE: 39 SEX: F 
ADMIT: o,11s/16 RM/BED, 2105 /A Sees. 394.459(3), 394.4625(J)(f), Florida Statutes A'M': MAZZORANA IVAN lf1 l 

Cf-MH 3104, Feb 05 {obsoletes previous editions) (Recommend HR #: 000063708 PAT II: U61SB2 BAKER ACT 

159. PRH's Demand Bill for Patient F.M. shows that Patient F.M. was a Medicare 

patient and received ECT treatment. 

CONFIDENTIALAND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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DEMAND BILL 

PATIENT NAME 

PARK ROYAL BOSPITAL 
9241 PARK ROYAL DRIVE 
FT MYERS F~ 
33908-9204 
239-985 - 2700 

ACCOUNT NO . 
962640 

ADMI T DATE Dl S. DA'l'E PAGE 
1 6 / 29 / 1 6 7/06/16 

F/ C I NS . CO/PLANS 
M :,1Eo :CARE 

AGE 
39 

POLICY~ 
32 8861776A 

DR . NAME 
MAZZO:<ANA I VAN 

CHRG CODE DESCRI PTION QTY u'NIT PRICE AMOUNT 

2475.00CR 
2475 . 00 
1319.76CR 

CPT CODE 

7/ 24 /16 00 00001 JI.DJUS'l'MENT 
8/1.7/16 00 00001 ADJUSTMENT 
8 / D /16 0000001 A..DJUSTMENT 
8/17/16 000000 0 PAYMENT 
8/17/1 6 0000001 ADJUSTMENT 
6/7-9/16 90:1 000 ECT 
7/01 /16 901 1000 ECt 
·1 /06/ l 6 9011000 f.CT 

"* 
• 1 

*~ 
* . 
** 

1 825 . 00 
l 825.00 
1 87-5.00 

SUMMARY OF CH.A..RGBS 
TOTAL CHARGES 
TOTAL PAYMENTS 
TOTAL ADJUSTI-lENTS 
T OTAL JI . .MOm-T DUE 

*• 
w* 
"'* 
"'I, 

..... 

905 . ?OCR 
18.48CR 

82!> . 0C 
82!:i. 00 
825.00 

~0870 
9087 0 
90870 

2475.00 
905 . 70CR 

1338.24CR 
231.06 

160. Because Patient F.M. was legally incompetent to provide express and informed 

consent to ECT treatment and Florida law requires patient consent for ECT treatment, PRH 

il legally treated Patient F.M. with ECT treatment. 

Patient J.W. 

161. Ham ordered Snyder to admit Patient J .W. to PRH for inpatient treatment even 

though Patient J.W. did not require emergency medical care for mental illness. 

CONFIDE 1TIA L A D U 1 DER SEAL-QUI TAMCOMPLAI 1T 

United States and State of Florida ex rel. Franka Tirado, et al. ,,. Park Royal Ho::,pital, et al. 
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162. Ham called and told Snyder that Patient J. W. was taking the bus down from 

Atlanta, that Patient J.W. probably would not meet the admission criteria, but that Snyder should 

admit Patient J. W. anyway, or words to that effect. 

163. Ham told Snyder that Patient J.W. got kicked out of the recovery home Patient 

J.W. was living in and was effectively homeless, or words to that effect. 

164. In response to Ham, Snyder said that that homelessness was not an appropriate 

basis for an admission, or words to that effect. 

165. Ham replied that Patient J.W. was kicked out for doing drugs, or words to that 

effect. 

166. Snyder performed an intake assessment on Patient J.W., who told Snyder that she 

had schizophrenia but that it was under control and had been for years, or words to that effect. 

167. Based on Snyder's intake assessment on Patient J.W., Patient J.W. did not require 

emergency medical care for mental illness. 

168. Since PRH can only provide substance abuse treatment to individuals requiring 

emergency medical care for mental illness and Patient J. W. did not require emergency medical 

care for mental illness, Patient J. W. did not meet the criteria for admission to PRH. 

169. Snyder also concluded Patient J. W. did not need substance abuse treatment since 

Patient J.W. was not intoxicated and was not a threat to herself or others. 

170. Over Snyder's objections, PRH admitted Patient J.W. for inpatient treatment on 

October 25, 2016. 

171. Within 24 hours of receiving notification from Patient J .W. 's probation officer that 

Patient J. W. was in violation of her probation for crossing state lines, PRH determined Patient 

J.W. was stable enough for discharge and released her on November 10, 2016. 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
United States and State of Florida ex rel. Franko, Tirado, et al. v. Park Royal Hospital, et al. 
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I 72. The fact that PRH deemed Patient J.W. stable at exactly the same time that it 

received a call from Patient J.W.'s probation officer confirms that PRH makes discharge 

decisions on factors unrelated to medical necessity. 

173. PRI-1 paperwork for Patient J.W. shows that Patient J.W. was admitted on October 

25, 20 16, and discharged on November 10, 20 16. 

PATIENT NAME MRN: DATE OF ADMISSION DATE OF DISCHARGE 

ID J...5 I l ( o I 
RN DEFICIENCY DATE COMPLETED 

174. Patient J.W. 's paperwork shows that Patient J.W. was admitted for substance 

abuse treatment but did not require emergency medical care for mental illness. 

CONFIDENTIAL AND U 1 DER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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PCH: 

Age: 39 

Chief Coa,pWnt 

FadDty: P11111 Royal HoipN»I - FMA 

ooe: oe,cw,m 

VOUIHTARY ADMISSION FOR ONGOING PSYCHIATRIC CARE. COCAINE WITHDRAWAL 

HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS 

ROOM&: 

l9 YrAA OLD ~',V...(.,(:»!F ro FACU TY F()R 0\. TO)( orr coc.-N Sr.£ CO'.lf't.Al',.S Of cov.;H NIO SPtlTVI.I X 7,'/E.Ei<S 
M~ UR.r~AAV BUR/', 'O Al'IO FOVI. SMEll )( WU.I< 
AIJ.rv,ln - No kno'Ml ct,vg eiotglos.. 
01,t.-4>atltnt Mldlcatlons - Ploas.e 880 lhe medication roooncll•tlon. 
Put llkd/Surg Hltto/y •C-SECTJOO 
Famfly Hl•tory -NA 
Social • CURRENT NICOTINE USE. DENIES ETCH 
Cod• 5tarua - FULL CODE 

REVleW OF SYSTEMS 
Nol1Ml Abnomi&I CClmmenu on abnonMls 

✓ Conrlr.lltlonal Normal ~ Commeru on abnormele 
/ lnl~mt'1ta,y 

✓ E)IO$ 
✓ EM.IT 
✓ Cardowaa.fat 

✓ RIISPirllto,y COUGH, SPUTUM 
✓ Gasttolntosllnal 

✓ Gffllcurlna,y BURNINO 

✓ Muaailoll<elotll 
✓ Nourologlcal HA 
✓ ~ SCHCZOPHR.ENIA 

✓ Endocrino 
✓ H!llm610loglc 

PHYSICAL EXAP,1 

ConJstllutloml Afelxi la, v,laf ~ G4abla 

E)ltt ~ - PERRLA Sd&r, • ~.r 

ar/Nosel EARS • W.Chln Nom>al Umita Hoariflg 1ni.c1 NIJSIII • Nose and sinus No Ollltharo• No eltluo tondemesa N .. ,1 P11,a.ugea 
Mouth/ Throat Pa:,,.,, Tongue - Wi~ Normal Um11:1 Phtl/yn11 • WNL wfo intlammollcn Mds1 Mucoua M~o 

Nec.k G-,a/- Sy,,vnolrlc, T,.chN mlallne Supple Thyroid · No lhyroidmogoly, n.o thyroid IMO&m-. 

Catdlo1tuculu F>a/pftion • PMI WHL, non-<llsploeod Au$i;tJt11t/on Regular rtlo rhY'.hm NOrTllal S 1 S2 No S3S4 No murmi.ntrubl Carotitl.s . 
Brtsk tJp$(10kll bl;i!arall'f, no MIits, no tt,rib ~ ~-2+ OP/PT Edoma- No edom• p,osenl 

Ruph.tory El'b1 • No ln1ef00Slal reinletlon, no un o( aoc:ossory mutcloa No Acute Devus ~ Rate . Ohr to auscun;.11on 
bllltera.lly 

GI A.bdomon - Normal bowel 5Cllinda No ITINMIJI pelpat.ed No 1.-.c!OmMa to pa!pa!lot> Gu .. 'ac . 

GU Adn~tri4 - BURNIN<l W1TH URINATION 

Lymphatic No lymph•~ in MCk No /'pnplled~y In UJ1lor 

Nutculoskeletal Dlfl,UINIIII& 1,VNL G4lr W<thln Nonnal Units Notma/ ROM Reng,, Of Uolion . No paln, a-~. or conltactwo 
Skin 

Neu:rology 

lMp«!ion • No ruhea, uleen, Warm/Ory 

CnJntal Nerwu • ll•XII lnlitQI M o(or • Normal 

Pay~h leVG/Of~-AIM 

ASSESSMENT AND PLAN 
1, C®9h 
MU~NEX AUGMEHTIN 
2. Oy,ima 
UA PENDING STARTEO ON AUGMENTIN 
G•n•r•I Comrntntlt 

Thlt OOcument was aeated, approvod and IHOdronlcaUy algnod by James Long on 10/26f.20I6 1 O: 1 ~ AM. 

175. Patient J.W. 's Progress Note dated October 31, 2016, lacks any information that 

would justify a continued stay at PRH. The Progress Note says Patient J. W. " is alert, oriented to 

all 4 spheres," "denied current auditory or visual hallucinations," and "denies suicidal or 

homicidal ideations, plans or intent." Instead, the basis for Patient J. W.'s stay appears to be that 

PRH is "looking for placement" at another facility. Merely " lookjng for placement" for an 
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otherwise healthy individual is not an appropriate basis for continuing inpatient therapy services, 

and, as indicated above, is code for keeping a patient at PRl-:1 despite the lack of medical 

necessity. 

PROGRESS NOTE 

DATE: 10/31/2016 

- is o 39-year-old, black female. She wus admitted voluntarily for schizophrenia, cocuioc use and 
major depression. She is doing quite well. She states that she is sleeping okay. She feels much better. 
She has a smiling affect. She feels her medication regimen is perfect. 

MEl',T AL STATUS EXAM: Reveals a black female who is calm. coopcrauve, adequately groomed, 
makes good eye contact. Muscle tone is nonnaJ. She is aler1, oriented to all 4 spheres. Speech is fluent, 
coherent, nonnal volwnc and lone. Mood is cuthymic. Affect is spontaneous. Mood congruent. 
appropriate to thought content. Thought process is organized. She denies current auditory or v1suaJ 
hallucinations. No delusions arc noted or chcllcd. Short and long-tem1 memory both test mtact. 
Concentration is improved. Insight is improved. Judgment 1s intact at UllS lime. She denies suicidal or 
homicidal ideations, plans or intent. 

DlAGNOSTJC IMPRESSION: 
1. F20.9, paranoid schizophrenia. 
2. F33.2, major depression, recurrent. 
3. F14.20, cocaine use disorder. 

PLA:'li: We urc. going to contmue th current trcatrncnt plan. I hey arc looking for phtcemcm At lhi~ 
po1ni. he agrees tlm she needs to go to supportl\C living 

Michael Shaw, ARNP (Date and Time) 

D: 10/3 1/2016 13:52:59 EST 
T: 10/31/2016 13:55:17 EST/MIS1525/11 294096 
JOB#: 281528 1 

176. Patient J.W. 's paperwork shows PRl-1 staff determined on November 2, 2016, that 

Patient J.W.'s stay was medically unnecessary. 

Co FIDE TlALAND UNDER SEAL- Q UI TAMCOMPLA I T 
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I 
' ...... LI.I (.J ~ 9(, qq ),. .. l.========--======================j Rt:\ icw D.uc ! , .?. r.o~rr=1u""'1-1s'::AL.--., iu:=v=1.:RIF=,IC."'"'A""'Tl'""O'""'l,...,O""F""ll=F.-.-.m-r-~----1' f..LI"'-r;;,""'"°Cnj.,-;:,w;----,-~l)A-:,TI.;:;:-;\-;;'l-:::.RT.IFl:,r;::1:-, __________ J 
1 rJ.htso111l ~ledu:arc c.,,·cra,•c vrnfieJ 

Of I'll) lllttimc psy~~ t!nvs, # d.1}" rr,nauuu~ 

OfQO cl•~ per cur.cnl b.:nc'il pm,,.!,~ r.~ys 1euuinme (11,'gi~s the 
first d .. y o' ndnu<SIJll tu IP N !,NI ar.rl ~nJ5 .n., no tr I); s:-w 
1rca1:n,J1' II' u; 51--r 10, f,Q dz Ill. n,w) 

JU:Q11RLIJ DOCIDl'f'5TA no:, 
C-3 Phy-sician Recenitic:111o:i oo or hv d3y 12 

0- I ~.(I~,-,-,,,-,'-' ,.)\ , \ 

DATT. \ 'EJUFI!.D 

·,,n11,01,n1,1lb, _ --S? 
c.1 ,\c11,·c •~•Ul!em, 1Ucnd111i; g;mip;,, coopcrauon "iththcrnpy T 

Ar.d mcd..icalK)nad U!ii:lm:nts:1ml coc. tin v.1.:h m.cdicn!iC'li 
C-S l:lcnefi~in.11 from 1rcaumcnt!1cducaon of 1ari:c:C1! 1:,mpto:ns 

that led to 3dmi.<s:nc • 
c;.9 Cocrd1-al:Qn w11L p:im.ir:· "'Pi"'" ,y.iem 

C-9 Comdmotion w11h comm:mity pn.w1dm 

ACTIONll-:XPLANATI0'\;;:.,----------1 

Corrective nctloo~ utktn: 
Outcomo: ~----------- ----------------------~ . Dcfidrndrs WWI hr ,·rrlflrd lo bf corrtclrd witbln I bud ncu day or lnrorru facillf\• ci,:o ond Mrdi<a;-:1 0""1,-.. -,.-r-. _ ___ ____;I URsu,rri-:u:ne1s,--~- I Da!e. -----''-'--"-'~=c:.c.;_;:;.;.;.:=~-----1: 

177. Patient J. W. 's Progress Note five days later, on November 7, 2016, also lacks any 

information that would justify a continued stay at PRH. The Progress Note says Patient J.W. " is 

alert," "oriented x4," • pleasant. cooperative, easily engaged," "denies any suicidal or homicidal 

ideas, plans, or intents."' Instead, the basis for Patient J.W.'s stay appears to be that PRH is "still 

trying to find . .. safe and adequate placement" at another faci lity. 
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PROGRESS NOTE 

DATE: 11/07/2016 

Patient seen, chart reviewed, staff consulted. 

At this time, the patient has no new complaints. She states that she was doing very well during the 
weekend. \\'e ,m.! sllll trying to find a ~afo Jnd adc.quate placement for the p,111cnt at this 11111c, a11d we 
may have found n place at N1:1xt Step for 11 10' 2016 wit11 PHP follO\\Up. 

The p.ujcnt 1:. wcrt. 'h1.: 1s ori1.111cd x4. She is pleasant, cooperative, easily engaged. Her mood 1s 
cuthymic. l lcr al feet 1s full range Lind appropriall.! 10 muod. She dcnrl.'l;any suicidal or homic1dul ideas. 
plan:;, nr 111tcnt!i, Her sp<:cch •~ cle11r, C(lhcrclll, ,md goal directed. Tier in~'i_ght is good. Hl:'1 Judgment ts 
good. I h:1 1111pul, c comrol is llll.1 L. 

DIAGNOSTIC IMPRESSION: 
I. Schiwphrenia chronic paranoid type, F20.0. 
2. Cocaine use disorder, severe, F14.20. 

PLAN: Continue present management. 

TENTATIVE DISCHARGE: 11/ 10/2016. 

ate and Time) 

D: 11/07/2016 18:14:32 EST 
T: 11/07/201618:16:37 EST/M1S1532/1 1321963 
JOB#: 2826557 

cc:Juan Rodriguez, l'v1D 

178. PRH paperwork for Patient J.W. shows that Patient J.W. was a Medicare patient. 

CONFIDENTIAL AND U NDER SEAL-QUI TAM C OMPLA IN T 
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' ', 
' 

UNTNUMBER 

PARK ROYAL HOSPITAL 

33908 

p 

220l /B 

Pf~ON£ ij1 

PLACE 

ADV DIR: 

AOMrTBY; 

PA 

u 

Al-IL 

· ·· - •• -2997 
EOATe 

10/2~/16 

0 C tll~I 1nd Number 

RODRIGUHZ JUAN 
924i ~ART. ROYAL ~RIVE 

--t--c= .... A=2"'N;:,.,.::-:._--,Adc.:d;::, .. :-:,c-.p.t':ho::Cno:.n.:el.l;::llo;::n:-:,,hc=-----I FORT MYER~ ~~ g 06 

P!IONI: ~

RE:.: 

PO BOX 2711 

Patient M.K. 

PHONE? ij : 

RO0RtGUF.Z JUAN 
~241 PAR}\ ROYA!. [JJCV! 
!'ORT MYERS PL 

33906 

(688) 664 4 l 1.2 

l 79. PRH involuntarily admitted Patient M.K. for inpatient treatment but kept Patient 

M.K. approximately two weeks after Patient M.K. was stable and safe for release before 

discharging Patient M.K. 

180. PRH paperwork for Patient M.K. dated February 13, 2017, shows that Patient 

M.K. was a Medicare patient, admi tted for inpatient treatment on November 27, 2016. and 

discharged 23 days later on December 20, 2016. 
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AROR9A 
2/13/17 

ACCOUNT NO . --> 0964835 

DATE BILLED -- --- > 
TOTAL CHARGED----> 
CURRENT DUE --- - - -> 

PARK ROYAL HOSPITAL 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE STATUS REPORT 

PAGE 1 
TIME: 1:02 PM 

TYPE: I GUARANTOR NO.--> 0018381 
HOSP SRV CODE: AD2 
FINANCIAL CLS: NM M 
SSN : 0 59-80-7249 
ADMITTED----> 11/ 27 / 16 
DISCH.A.RGED--> 12 / 20 / 16 

12/ 27 / 1 6 
34,500 . 00 

1,288.00 

2 
1 / 18/ 17 

15,233.61 
00 

PHYSICIAN: RODRIGUEZ JUAN 

NO. OF PAYMENTS -- ----> 
DATE OF LAST PAYMENT- - > 
LAST PAYMENT AMOUNT -- - > 
NO . OF STATEMENTS ---- -> 
DATE LAST STATEMENT-- - > 
LAST STMT. AMOUNT - - -- -> 
LAST LETTER NUMBER--- -> 

PAYOR 1 155 
PAYOR 2 455 
PAYOR 3 000 

PLAN 1 001 V.EDICARE 
PLAN 2 001 CENPATICO SUNSHINE 
PLAN 3 000 

34,500.00 
00 

POLICY# 059807249A 
POLICY# 8912752251 
POLICY# 

18 1. M.K. 's Psychiatric Evaluation dated November 27, 201 7, lacks any information 

that would justify a continued stay at PRH. The Progress Note says that Patient M.K. "is pleasant 

and cooperative," "is alert and ori ented x4," "denies suicidal or homicidal thoughts," "denies any 

auditory, visual or tactile hallucinations." The Progress Note also says that Patient 's M.K.'s 

"thoughts appear to be linear, logical, and reality based," and that while Patient M.K. "has some 

psychomotor agitation," Patient M.K. has "[n]o tics, tremors or abnormal involuntary 

movements." In addjtion, the Psychiatric Evaluation says that Patient M.K.'s "estimated length 

of stay is 3-5 days." 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL- QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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Physician: Ivan L. Ma7..zorana, MD Admission Date: 11127/2016 

PSYCHIATRJC EVALUATJON 

ALLERGIE. : She has no medication allergies. 

FAMILY HISTORY: The patient denies any family history of mental illness. 

SOCIAL HISTORY: As noted. the patient was born and raised in Long Island. New York. Her 
parents are residing up there and they are divorced. She notes that they arc supportive. She has 
additional fami ly that live in West Palm Beach. Florida who are also supportive and they have been over 
to this coast to visit her at the New Life Cemer within last 5 months. She no1es that possibly staying 
with them might to be an additional option going forward for her. She has been staying at New Life 
Center for the past 5 months. According to the pa1ien1, she is welcome to return there if she so chooses. 
She is a not cun·cntly employed. She alludes to a possible history of emotional and physical abuse but 
does not go into details regarding that. She does have a history of some college anendance in ~ew York 
state for 3 years in wnich she was majoring in mu.-;ic. She does have a legal history of 1 prior arrest and 
I overnight stay in jail. No current legal trouble. 

ASSETS AND LIABILITLES: Assets arc supportive family. She is physically well. She is well 
spoken and motivated for treatment and wellness. Liabi lities include limited local support, questionable 
subs1ance abuse issues, financial and unemployment. 

REVlEW OF SYSTEMS: Except as noled in I TPJ is negative for 14 points. 

YIT AL SIGNS: I !eight 5 feet 6 inches. weight 157 pounds, blood pressure 155/93 upon admission last 
night. This morning it was retaken and was I 07/6 1. Temperature 97.8 degrees, pulse 89, respirations 
18, oxygen is I 00%. 

MENTAL STATl 1S EXAJ\1: ·1111s is a 29-ycar-old. Caucasian female, who appears stated age. She is 
pleasant and coopcra1i,c. SI le mainta111s lair eye contact. l kr speech is clear and coherent. She has 
ques1io11ablc rcliahilil) as a histonan. ho\\cwr, she is well-spoken. She 1s alert nnd oriented x4 Her 
mood is anxious. Iler affect is constricted and suspicious <.:he denies sutctdal or homicidal thoughts 
She denies any auditor). visual <1r t.tctilc hallucinat10ns. I kr though1s appear to ~ linear, logical. and 
rcaltt} hascJ. She h:is some ps) chomotor agitation l\o ttes, tremors or abnormal mvoluntal) 
mo\'c1m:nL'i. Her impulse control is intact. I !er insight and judgment nre lin11t..:d She is of good 
cognition Appears of average intelligence. I kr m<!lllOT) 1s alsn intact. 

CONFIDENTIALAND UNDER SEAL- Q UI TAM COMPLAINT 
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• J 

Physician: Ivan L. Maaorana. MD Admission Date: l J/27/2016 

PSYCl IIATRIC EVA.LUAT1ON 

Beach who are also involved and supponivc. I lcr estimated length of stay is 3-5 days. fhe patient has 
been explained lhe current proposed treatment plan. She <locs agree and uuderstands treatment plan as 
currently set forth . 

Hilary Sojdak., /\RNP (Date and Time) 

Ivan L. Mazzorana. MD (Date and Time) 

D: 11/27/20 I 6 12:28: 18 EST 
T: 11 /27/2016 12:30:37 EST/MIS! 112/11391595 
JOB#: 2854647 

CC: HILARY SOJDAK. ARNP 
IVAJ\ L. MAZZORANA, MD 

182. Patient M.K. 's Progress Note dated December 8, 2016, also lacks any information 

that would justify a continued stay at PRJ-L The Progress Note says that Patient M .K. "[ d]enies 

suicidal or homicidal ideation" and "appears stable." The Progress Note also says that Patjent 

M.K. s discharge " is pending placement" at another faci li ty. Merely looking fo r placement fo r an 

otherwise healthy individual is not an appropriate basis fo r continuing inpatient therapy services, 

and, as indicated above, is code for keeping a patient at PRH despite the lack of medical 

necessity. 

183. Putting the other issues aside, PRH's own paperwork indicates that Patient M.K. 

should only have stayed at the faci lity fo r 3-5 days; yet, PRH kept Patient M.K. for more than 

three weeks. 

CONFIDENTIAL A D U NDER SEAL- Q UI T.IIMCOMPLAINT 
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PROGRESS NOTE 

DATE: 12/08/20 16 

UNIT: 3 East. 

IDENTIFICATION: A 29-year-old female admitted with diagnosis of psychosis, Asperger and 
anxiety. 

SUBJECTIVE: Patient is being seen today. Chart is being reviewed. Patient appears stable and is 
appropriate to interview today. Patient was talking about her past, how traumatic how her life was. The 
patient endorsed that for 3 years the mother was not allowing her to be at home during the whole day, 
and usually had to be in the streets until late hours. The patient also did report that she was sexuaUy 
abused once in New York when she was 26 years old. Patient did not report PTSD symptoms out of this 
traumatic event. The patient stil l endorsing not wanting to going back home and wanting to return to 
faith-based program that she was in. The patient did repor1 tl1at I of her aunts is coming to visit her. 
Patient has endorsed that she is feeling well, not endorsing suicidal ideation, no intense symptoms of 
depression or anxiety. Appears euti1)'Illic. Affect is resrricted. Patient has been compliant with the 
medication. Denies suicidal or homicidal ideation. No side effects of medication. No ETO in the last 
24 hours. No disruptive behavior. Has been participating in groups. 

OBJECTIVE: Engaged well in interview. Established good eye contact. No abnormal movements 
seen. Logical and goal directed. Reality based. Co1,'llltively intact. Not delusional. No suicidal 
ideation. No visual or auditory or tactile hallucination. No homicidal ideation. Euthymic. Affect is 
restricted. insight is limited. Judgment is fair. Impulse is fair. 

Il\.1-PRESSION: 
1. Generalized anxiety disorder. 
2. Asperger's syndrome. 

PLAN: The patient will continue on same medications. Patient appears stable. The patient is pending 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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PROGRESS NOTE 

placement 

VlTAL SIGNS: Blood pressure is I 02/72, temperature 97.0 degrees, pulse is 87, respirations 16, 02 is 
98. 

._ 

Jorge Diaz, (Date and Time) 

D: 12/08/2016 14:30:37 EST 
T: 12/08/2016 14:33: 14 EST/M1S 1590/11436660 
JOB#: 2872628 

Patient M.D.K. 

184. PRH inappropriately and unlawfully admitted Patient M.D.K. for inpatient 

treatment at PRH even though Patient M.D.K. did not meet the criteria fo r admission to PRH. 

I 85. Pati ent M.D.K. was ordered by cou11 to complete a 28-day substance abuse 

program. 

186. PRH can only provide substance abuse treatment to individuals requiring 

emergency medical care for mental illness. 

I 87. Patient M.D.K. did not require emergency medical care for mental illness. 

Therefore, PRH was not allowed to admit Patient M.D.K. for substance abuse treatment but did 

so anyway. Patient M.D.K. should have been admjtted to a facility that is properl y credentialed 

for and eligible to provide stand-alone substance abuse treatment. 

188. Patient M.D.K. 's paperwork shows that Patient M.D.K. was admitted for 

substance abuse treatment but did not require emergency medical care for mental illness. 

CONFIDENTIAL A 1D U DER SEAL-Q UI TAMCOMPLAI T 
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.. 

PCN: 

Age: 48 

Chief Complaint 

MRN: 

Gendor: Male 

FeclUty: Parle Royal Hospital• FMA 

DOB: 07/05/1968 

VOLUNTARY STATUS ADMITTED FOR DETOX FROM SUBSTANCE ABUSE. 

HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS 

ROOM#: 

1111■11 1s A48 YEAR OLD MALE ADMITTED VOLUNTARY STATUS FOR OPIOID ADDICTION. HE ADMITS THAT HE IS AN 
UPOID AUDIC I ANO WANTS TO DETOX IN ORDER TO BE ACCEPTED INTO A 28 DAY RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT PLAN PATIENT 
IS ON PROBATION ANO THE PRESIDING JUDGE HAS ORDERED HIM TO ATTEND A 28 DAY PROGRAM , PATIENT HAS BECOME 
ADDICTED TO OPIATES AFTER HAVING TWO BACK SURGERIES 

189. Patient M.D.K. 's December 6, 20 16, Psychiatric Evaluation says that Patient 

M.D.K.'s tentative length of stay was fo r "[s]even to ten days for detox." [emphasis added] The 

Psychiatric Evaluation also says that Patient M.D.K. " is alert, be is oriented x4. He is pleasant, 

cooperative. Easi ly engaged. His speech is clear, coherent, and goal directed .. .. He denies 

sujcida], homicidal ideas, plans or intents. He is not p!iychotic at this time. He is cognitively 

i11tact. His insight is good. His judgment is good." [emphasis added] 

Co FIDENTIALAND UNDER SEAL- Q UI TAMCOMPLAI T 
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PSYCIIIAl RI< EVAI.UATION 

EXAMINATfO;-s: DATE: 12/06/2016 

lJ~IT: 2 1-.ast. 

HISTORY OF PRESENT fLLN F.SS: I he patIe11I i," 48-yt:ar-olJ. Caucasian 111alc, who was 
atlmiu1:d on a voluntary status with n chief w 111pl,1111I ut ''I'm opioid addict. I want to detox to get into a 
28 day residential treatment." "I'm on probt11in11 I he 111dg1:. said I had to do a 28 day program." 

At this lime. the patient SU) s U1a1 he bccamc atld1cted to opiates a1'1c:r he had 2 b..ick surgeries. I le had 
been on a fcntanyl patch. and also un Rtixicndunc ,\dditiunally In: takes Ambicn for sh.:cp. He ,vas 
:aking the mcd1ca1ion as prescribed. but a1 tlus time he: has '1crnmc tlcpendeni on them The patient was 
arrested for fraud. and he had an nlten.:atl()n w1!h ,i c,.', drne1. l h: was placed on probation and. as pan 
of tht.: prohation. the patient is w go 111 a 28 dt1) p111;-!ra111 

I he pJticnl denies any present nr past history 111 q,1ndc Jllcmpts or ideas. fhc patient's only complaint 
at tlw, Lime is a sleep disturbance with th\.' 11.aorl1l) tn 1 .. 11 ~,,b.'p and sLny asleep His major strcssor is 
his legal problems. 

1\.-tEDfCAL HISTORY: 
I. Chronic bad. pain. 
2. Status post hack sttrgcr) x2 

MEDICATIONS: 
I. h!oL,111yl putch 50 mg every 3 Jays. 
2. Rmrn;o<lonc 30 mg I"' ic.:c u d,ty. 
3. ,\111h1cn l 0 mg at bedtime. 

,\LLERGIES: "Jo known drug ,1lkrg1c~ 

SOCIAL HISTORY: Patient Is on d1sah1lit) ar'tc1 h,n i1~,t haJ 2 back surj!cries. 1 le worked in marine 
construction. I h: lives with his wi fc. 1 hc:y have bccn 111,11T1ed for l 8 years I las a 24-year-old son with 
whom he is in daily con!lH.:t. 

;\f[i'\TAL ST \Tl S f.\. .\:\l: P.u,c:it is ,dc.:11 !11.: Is 11rn:.11cd \ I. I k· is ph.•a,.111t. cooperatm:, Easily 
cn!~~1~cd I !is spcci;h 1, clc.tr l:ohl.'rL·nt •. 111d i.:L•al d11CdL·d 111.' .i! :his l:llK' 1s prl·scntin~ with tl'\!mors, 
rcstlcss11cs:.. na11~<:a, but nu\ 0111:11111.!.. I le ,knit· ,111(,t(I, •. hL1micid,d 1Jc 1~. plans M intents Heb not 
ps, c!wliL· at this time. I [c 1s cng11i11vd~ 111t,1d 11 s 111 ~h t 1.s gooJ I Its 1udgnwn1 Is good His impulse 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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PSYCHIATRIC' rVAI l "ATION 

control is intact. 

DIAGNOSTIC IMPRESSIOX: 
I. Opiulc: use disorder. severe, I 11 .20. 
2. J\djustment disorder, unspc:ctfied. F 43.20 
3. Chronic back pain. 

PLAN: 
I 
2. 
1 

___ cloniJine ( 'OWS protocol. 
Trazodonc I 00 mg p.11. at heel time p.r.n. li1r sk:cp. 
Vistaril 25 mg p.o. q. 6 hour:; p r.n. for an:,it.:I) 

TI1:YfATJVE LENGTH OF STA\: 
I S.:,·cn lo ten d,1) ~ li1r detox. 

2. We \,ill consider the pat1c:n1 for longe1 sea~ if .ippwpri .tc illr n::hahilitation 

Putitnt lo be transferred to the dual diagnosi!-1 uni I in~ \Ve!>l 

Juan Rodriguez, vtD (Date uncl Time) 

D: 12/06/2016 11 :07:34 i.::,ST 
T: 12/06/2016 11 :09:59 ES I /Ml~ 1590/11426057 
J()f)li: 2868 I 61 

190. Because Patient M.D.K. did not require emergency medical care for mental 

illness, Patient M.D.K. did not meet the criteria for admission to PRI-I for inpatient treatment. 

191. Patient M.D.K.'s Progress Note dated December l 2, 2016, says that Patient 

M.D.K. 's chief complaint was " I am fine" and that he was scheduled for discharge on December 

l3, 2016. 

CONFIDE TIALAND UNDER SEAL- Q UI TAM COMPLAINT 
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PROGRESS NOTE 

DATE: 12/12/2016 

IDENTIFYING DAT A: A 48-year-old Caucasian male. 

CHIEF COMPLAINT: "I am fine." 

SUBJECTIVE: Patient reports that his mood is improving. He is sleeping well. He has some cough 
for which he asked for cough drops but no psychosis. No suicidal or homicidal ideations. CognHively 
intact. Oriented x3. Memory, attention, language, fund of knowledge is fair. 

VJTALS: BP 115/84, T 97, P 114. R 16, 02 98. 

REVIEW OF SYSTEMS: Twelve-point review of systems is negative. 

DIAGNOSIS: Unchanged. 

PLA1 : Discharge in the morning. 

Zahecr Aslam, MD (Date and Time) 

D: 12/ 12/2016 14:06:25 EST 
T: 12/12/2016 14:08:41 EST/MTSl 11 2/11448239 
JOB#: 2877554 

192. Nonetheless, PRH paperwork for Patient M.D.K. shows PRH did not discharge 

Patient M.D.K. until December 24, 2016, 19 days after Patient M.D.K. was admitted to PRH and 

12 days after Patient M.D.K. indicated that he was "fine." 

PATIENT NAME MRN: DATE OF ADMISSION DATE OF DISCHARGE 

Jd)~ Ul 
DEFIC~·N'f:l I ASSIGNED TO: DATE COMPLETED 

193. PRH's Accounts Receivable Status Report for Patient M.D.K. dated February 13, 

2017, shows that Patient M.D.K. was a Medicare patient. 

CONFIDENTIAL AND U NDER S EAL- Q UI TAM COMPLAI 1T 
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PAGE 1 AR0R9A 
2/13/17 

PARK ROYAL HOSPITAL 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE STATUS REPORT TIME : 1 : 0 8 PM 

ACCOUNT NO.--> 0964965 TYPE: I GUARANTOR NO. -- > 0018440 

DATE BILLED --- --> 
TOTAL CHARGED----> 
CURRENT DUE- - - ---> 

HOSP SRV CODE : AWl 
FINANCIAL CLS : F7 SM M 
SSN: 273-72 - 6806 
ADMITTED----> 12/05/16 
DISCHARGED--> 12/24/16 

1/05/17 
28,500.00 
1,288 . 00 

PHYSICIAN: RODRIGUEZ JUAN 

NO. OF PAYMENTS ---- ---> 
DATE OF I.AST PAYMENT--> 
LAST PAYMENT AMOUNT---> 
NO. OF STATEMENTS---- - > 
DATE LAST STATEMENT---> 
LAST STMT. AMOUNT - ----> 
LAST LETTER NUMBER----> 

2 
1/ 23/ 17 

11,020.44 
01 

2/08/ 17 
1,288.00 

00 

PAYOR 1 155 
PAYOR 2 000 
PAYOR 3 000 

PLAN 1 001 MEDICARE 
PLAN 2 000 

POLICY# 273726806A 
POLICY# 

PLAN 3 000 POLICY!t 

Patient M.R. 

194. PRH admitted Patient M.R. for inpatient treatment even though Patient M.R. has 

autism, Patient M.R. has an intellectual disability, Patient M.R. 's medical condition could not 

reasonably be expected to improve, and Patient M.R. did not consequently meet the criteria for 

admission to PRH for inpatient treatment. 

195. PRH paperwork for Patient M.R. shows that Patient M.R. was a Medicare patient, 

admitted for inpatient treatment on January 24, 2017, and discharged 6 days later on January 30, 

2017. 

CONFIDENTJALA D U NDER SEAL- Q UI :f4MCOMPLA I T 
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AROR9A 
2/13/17 

PARK ROYAL HOSPITAL 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE STATUS REPORT 

PAGE 1 
TIME : 2:35 PM 

ACCOUNT NO.--> 0965622 TYPE: I GUARANTOR NO. - -> 0018788 

TOTAL CHARGED----> 
CURRENT DOE ---- - - > 

PHYSICIAN: RODRIGUEZ JUAN 

HOSP SRV CODE : ADl 
FINANCIAL CLS: M 
SSN: 140-96-0949 
ADMITTED----> 1/24/17 
DISCHARGED--> 1/30/17 
INHOUSE 

9 ,000.00 
9,000.00 

DATE OF LAST PAYMENT--> 

DATE LAST BILLED---- - -> 
LAST BILLED AMOUNT-----> 
LAST LETTER NUMBER----> 

PAYOR 1 155 
PAYOR 2 451 
PAYOR 3 000 

PLAN 1 001 MEDICF.RE POLICY# 090408832Cl 
POLICY# 9546564028 
POLICY# 

PLAN 2 001 PRESTIGE BEACON HEALTH 
PLAN 3 000 

.00 
00 

196. PRH paperwork for Patient M.R. shows that PRH involuntarily admitted Patient 

M.R. under Florida's Baker Act for "showing aggressive behavior." The paperwork also notes 

that the patient is autistic. 

PCN: MRN: 

Age: 22 Gonder: 

Chief Complalnt 
AGGRESSIVE BEHAVIOR 

HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS 

Facility: Park Royal Hospital - FMA 

DOB: 02/14/1994 

22 YEAR OLD MALE BAKER ACTED AFTER SHOWING AGGRESSIVE BEHAVIOR PATIENT IS AUTISTIC. HE DENIES ANY SOB. CP, 
OR PALPITATIONS. 

197. Because Patient M.R. 's medical condition could not reasonably be expected to 

improve from psychiatric services, Patient M.R. did not meet the criteria for admission to PRH 

for inpatient treatment. 

Patient P.W. 

198. PRH admitted Patient P. W., a personal friend of Ham and PRH Substance Abuse 

Supervisor Frank Mousolini, several times for inpatient treatment even though Patient P. W. did 

CONFIDENTIAL AND UNDER SEAL- Q UI TAM COMPLAINT 
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not have a mental illness requiring inpatient treatment and did not meet the criteria for inpatient 

treatment during any of his admissions. 

199. Preceding Patient P. W. 's stay at PRH from July 15, 2016, to August 11 , 2016, 

Ham told Snyder that Patient P. W. was on his way down from Georgia and had an alcohol and 

crack-cocaine problem, or words to that effect. 

200. PRH can only provide substance abuse treatment to individuals requiring 

emergency medical care for mental illness. 

201. Patient P. W. did not require emergency medical care for mental illness. Therefore, 

PRH was not allowed to admit Patient P.W. for substance abuse treatment but did anyhow. 

202. Patient P. W. met with Ham in his office almost da ily during his stay. 

203. Patient P.W. refeJTed several other individuals to PRI-1, including Patient J. W. 

204. PRH's Accounts Receivable Status Repo11 for Patient P. W. dated November 9, 

2016, shows that Patient P.W. was a Medicare pati ent, admitted on July 15, 2016, and discharged 

on August 11 , 2016. 

PAGE 1 AROR9A 
1:/09/16 

PARK ROYAL HOSPITAL 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE STATUS REPORT TIME: 4:18 PM 

ACCOUNT NO . --> 0962973 TYPE: I GUARANTOR NO.--> 0016844 

DATE BILLED ------> 
TOTAL CHARGED -- --> 
CURRENT DUE--- --- > 

HOSP SRV CODE : AW1 
FINANCIAL CLS: M B 
SSN : 224-96-2716 
ADMITTED----> 7/15/16 
DISCHARGED--> 8/ll/16 

8/17/16 
40,500.00 
17 , 687.23 

PHYSICIAN : RODRIGUEZ JUAN 

NO . OF PAYMENTS -------> 
DATE OF LAST PAYMENT -- > 
LAST PAYMENT AMOUNT---> 
NO. OF STATEMENTS-- - - - > 
DATE LAST STATEMENT---> 
LAST STMT. AMOUNT-----> 
LAST LETTER NUMBER----> 

. 00 
03 

11/09/16 
17,687 . 23 

00 

PAYOR l 155 
PAYOR 2 000 
PAYOR 3 000 

PLAN l 001 ME~IC~-'<E 
PLAN 2 000 

POLICY# 224962716A 
POLICY# 

PLAN 3 000 POLICY# 

CONFIDENTIAL AND U NDER SEAL-QUI TAM COMPLAINT 
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205. Patient P. W. ' s psychiatric evaluation dated July 16, 2016, says that Patient P. W. 's 

estimated length of stay is "['fJive to seven days" and describes Patient P.W. as " [c]ooperative." 

The evaluation also says that P. W. "seemed depressed" but that he "had good insight," "is ale11 

and oriented," and "can give consent." 

PSYCHIATRJC EVALUATION 

EXAMINATlON DATE: 07/16/2016 

IDENTIFYT!'JG DATA: A 59-year-old, single, white male, voluntarily admnted to 2 West. 

HlSTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS: The patient was Inst hospitalized here for rehab i11 May. Since 
then, he returned back to work to Bethesda, Georgia, but apparently a month into return to work, he was 
terminated. This led bim to further relapse. However, hl; was already using 2 weeks after discharge 
from this faci lity. 

He had been drinking daily, using coca111c and occasionally using Lortab. His drug of choice has always 
been alcohol. He does not have a complicated withdrawal history. but he does have a eomorbidity of 
l IIV and he is on multiple antivirals. The patient states that he is having withdrawals now with 
headache, naustm, foeling hot and cold. achy and very anxious. lie does have a support system. 
including allendjng AA and sponsor, but he did not use any of these when he went into relapse. Please 
rc:: fer 10 the record for extensive history. 

REVIEW OF SYSTEMS: Besides those stated withdrawals already, the rest is negative. 

:\IE~TAL STAT ·s EX.\'.\l: Rcvt!akd a male who looks stated age. Casually drL-sscd and grvomcd. 
Easy to engage Cooperative He seemed dcprc:.scd and a con:.trictcd affect. He had good insight and 
he is alert and onentcd and can give consent 

PSYCHIATRIC EVALUATION 

AXIS V: 40. 

PLAN: Patient will be started on a CJW A protocol with A ti van. 

ESTIMATED LENGTH OF STAY: Fivl; to seven days. 

Omar Rieche, MD (Date and Time) 

D: 07/16/2016 11 :5 I :08 EST 
T: 07/16/2016 11 :53:23 EST/MIS 1388/10895529 
JOB#: 2653534 

CONFIDENTIAL A i D UNDER SEAL-Q UI TAMCOMPLA I T 
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206. Depression by itself is not a va.l id reason to keep individuals for inpatient 

treatment unless they are a threat to themselves or others. 

207. Patient P. W. ' s Progress Note dated July 25, 20 16, lacks any information that 

would justify a continued stay at PRH. The Progress Note says that Patient P. W. 's chief 

complaint was "I'm fine." The Progress Note also says that Patient P. W. "denies suicidal or 

homicidal ideation" and has "[n]o psychosis." 

PROGRESS NOTE 

DATE: 07/25/2016 

IDE'.\TIFYTNG DATA: A 59-year-old Caucasian male. 

CHIEF C0:\1PLAINT: ''I'm fine." 

SUBJECTIVE: Patient repons that his mood is improving. He slept well. The patient states that he is 
having tcmblc headaches 2-3 hour~ after laking. mornillg medicmion which 1s prnhahly a side effect of 
Wcllbutnn. Will monitor it for couple of more days heforc making a dccismn lo continuc this 
mcd1ca l i(lJl <U: 'Wp 11 r·11i,•111 cl 'IHI' ~hl flf hnnH('IO~I WC :o '" 'l'ho.s:, rt.· i, ,, vii •n 11 cJ. 
Ills spe<.:eh 1s nonnal The patient is Cll!(llil1\'cl) intact. 

DIAGNOSES: 
I. Major depressive disorder, rccum.;nt. 
2. Generalized anxiety disorder. 
3. Polysubstance use disorder. 

PLAN: Continue cu1Tent treatment plan. ReevaJuate in the morning for funhcr medicine adjustment. 

/7 
/ 7-/JJ,/lt {1> ~ 

- ale and Timt:) 

D: 07/25/2016 14·0J. 8 EST 
T: 07/25/2016 14:06:10 EST/MISJ262/10926761 
JOB#: 2666272 

208. Patient P. W. 's Progress Note dated July 3 1, 2016, also lacks any infom1ation that 

would justify a continued stay at PRH. The Progress Notes says that Pa6ent P. W. has "[n]o signs 
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or symptoms at the present time .... The patient denies any suicidal or homicidal ideas or plans 

at the present time .... He is ale11 and oriented in 3, that is time, person, and place." 

PROGRESS NOTE 

DATE: 07/31/20 16 

Patient seen today. Chart reviewed. Case discussed with staff. 

SUBJ ECTJ VE: The patient is tolerating well lhe dctoxi ficat 1011 protocol so far. No major events. No 
side cff ect to any medication 

LABORATORY DATA: The most rc1.:ent labs shows whik blouc.l cdl count 8.2 with hemoglobin of 
15.5, hematocrit 48 <) 'o gruwth on the urine col1urc The urinalysis shows negative results Smltum 
147, potassium 4.5. the g lu<.:ose is 11 8, the crcati ninc 1.05. l11c AS1 19, A l T 23 ·1 SI I 0.86 I . White 
blond cell count 1s 5.3 with hemoglobin of 15.7, hcmntocrit 47.9 llnnc drug. screen pos1uvc for 
cucai11c, opiates and oxycodonc. 

VITAL SIG 'S: The most recent vital signs shows blood pressure 115/75. hean rate 55 per minute. 
respiratory rate 1s 17 per minute. 

REVIEW OF S\'STE,IS: No signs and s~mptoms at the present timc . 

. \lENTAL STA TLS EXA UNA TION: TI1c pallc11t 1s mote pleasant, nwn: rnopcra11vc. The ~·ye 
contact seems to be better. Speech is more clear, 111111 c art 1cul;1h:d Thought process m11rc 1111cm and 
mm t· lHgan11:cd. Th1.. patient denies .iny su1c11.k1I or homicidal ideas or plans at the presc::nt time Dcmes 
audio. \'isual or tactile hallui.:11wt111ns at this mn,nc.;nt :,-.o <lcluswns present or cl1citcd. He 1s ak:rt and 
oriented m .1. that is tune, person and place. Better m~1ght, better judgment and better memory to recent 
,111d I cmnll' C\ cnts. 

DJAGNOSES: 
AXIS I : 
I. Alcohol use disorder. 
2. Opiate dependence. 
3. Depressive disorder, not otherwise specified by history. 
AXIS II: None. 

PL.AN: To continue hospitalization. Case discussed with treatment team. 

209. Patient P.W. 's Progress Note dated onAugust 1, 2016, again lacks any 

information that would justify a continued stay at PRH. The Progress Note says that Patient P. W. 

"has not demonstrated any signs or symptoms of withdrawal. He is pleasant, cooperative, easily 

engaged. His speech is clear, coherent, goal directed .... He denies any suicidal or homicidal 
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ideas, plans or intents. He is not psychotic at this time." In addition, the Progress Note also 

shows Patient P. W. 's discharge as " [p]endi.ng at thi s time." 

2 J 0. As provided above, these are false "code words" that indicate PRH is merely 

running up the bill to Medicare for a patient that does not need treatment services. 

PROGRESS NOTE 

DATE: 08/01 /2016 

Patient is seen, chan reviewed. Staff consulted. 

The patient was transferred to my service as of this date from Dr. Zaheer Aslam. 

Al this Lime, the pa11cnt has not dcmom,tratc<l any signs or s)'mptoms ofw1thdra,,al. Heb pleasant, 
coopcrat1vc, easily engaged. Hts speech 1s clear, coherent, goal din.:cted llis mood is anx10us. llts 
affect 1s constnctcd. but appropnatc to mood. He denies any suicidal or homicidal ideas, plans or 
mtcnts He 1s not psychotic at this time. He 1s cognitt, cl} mtact. His insight is good. Judgment is 
good. Impulse control is intact 

DIAGNOSTIC IMPRESSION : Unchanged. 

l'LAN: Continue detoxification/rehabilitation. 

TE~T ATI \'E OISCHARGF..: Pending at this time. 

,cf~ !fa/4 /11 0 
Juan Rodriguez., MD (Date and Time) 

D: 08/01 /2016 16:17:17 EST 
T: 08/01/2016 16: 19:23 EST/MIS I 532/10953702 
JOB#: 2677460 

cc: Juan Rodriguez, MD 

2 11 . A PRI-1 Accounts Receivable Status Report for Patient P. W. dated November 9, 

2016 shows that Patient P. W. was readmitted the same day he was discharged for continued 

treatment at PRH from August 11 , 2016 to September 8, 2016. 
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... 

PAGE 1 AR0R9A 
11/09/16 

PARK ROYAL HOSPIT~.L 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE STATUS REPORT TIME: 4:15 PM 

ACCOUNT NO. - -> 0963375 TYPE : E GUARANTOR NO.--> 0016844 

DATE BILLED - - - --> 
TOTAL CHARGED-- --> 
CURRENT DUE ---- - > 

PHYSICIAN: ASLAM ZAHEER 

HOSP SRV CODE: PDl 
FINANCIAL CLS: M 
SSN: 224-96-271.6 
ADMITTED----> 8/11/16 
DISCHARGED--> 9/08/16 

10/27/16 
13,120 . 00 

3,272.70 

NO . OF PAYMENTS--- ----> 
DATE OF LAST PAYMENT--> 
LAST PAYMENT AMOUNT---> 
NO . OF STATEMENTS---- - > 
DATE LAST STATEMENT---> 
LAST STMT . AMOUNT-----> 
LAST LETTER NUMBER----> 

10 
11/03/16 

787.32 
00 

13,120.00 
00 

212. A PRH Demand Bi ll for Patient P.W. shows that Patient P.W. was also treated at 

PRH from April 29, 2016, to May 22, 2016. 

DEMAND BILL 

reHer re 

PA.~K ROYAL HOSPITAL 
9241 PAAK ROYAL DRI VE 
FT MYERS FL 
33908-9204 
23 9-985-2700 

ACCOUNT NO. 
961781 

ADMIT DATE DIS . DA':"E 
4/29/16 S/22/16 

Patient R.F. 

PAGE 
l 

2 13. PRH admitted Patient R.F. for inpatient treatment even though Patient R.F. was 80 

years old, Patient R.F. had dementia, R.F. 's medical condition could not reasonable be expected 

to improve, and Patient R.F. did not consequentJy meet the criteria for admission to PRH for 

inpatient treatment. 

2 14. PRH paperwork for Patient R.F. shows that Patient R.F. was a Medicare patient, 

admitted for inpatient treatment on December 28, 20 I 6, and discharged 29 days later on January 

26, 20 17. 
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PAGE 1 AR0R9A 
2/13/17 

PARK ROYA:. HOSPITAL 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE STATUS REPORT TIME: 2:35 PM 

ACCOUNT NO.--> 0965282 TYPE: I GUARA."'ITOR NO.--> 0018605 

DATE BILLED ----- -> 
TOTAL CHARGED--- - > 
CURRENT DUE------> 

HOSP SRV CODE: AOl 
FINANCIAL CLS: M 
SSN: 233 - 56-0404 
ADMITTED~---> 12/28/16 
DISCHARGED--> 1/26/17 

1 / 29/ 17 
40,500.00 
25,142.77 

PHYSICIAN: MAZZORANA IVAN 

.00 
00 

NO . OF PAYNENTS -- - --- -> 
DATE OF LAST PAYMENT--> 
LAST PAYMENT AMOUNT---> 
NO. OF STATEMENTS -----> 
DATE LAST STATEMENT --- > 
LAST STMT. AMOUNT-----> 
LAST LETTER NUMBER----> 

40,500 . 00 
00 

PAYOR 1 155 
PAYOR 2 300 
PAYOR 3 000 

PLAN 1 001 MEDICARE 
PLAN 2 001 BCBS FLORI DA 
PLAN 3 000 

POLICY# 233560404A 
POLICY# XJMH32519539 
POLICY# 

215. PRH's Discharge Summary for Patient R.F. dated January 26, 2017, shows that 

Patient R.F. did not meet the criteria for admission to PRI-I for inpatient treatment. The Discharge 

Summary shows that PRH involuntarily adnutted Patient R.F. under Florida's Baker Act "due to 

physical aggression at the nursing home." The Discharge Summary says that Patient R.F. was 

"an 80-year-old gentleman who was admi tted with a chief complaint of ' I am at the wall."' In 

add ition, the Discharge Summary notes that PRH took Patient R.F. off of "psychotropic drugs" 

after Patient R.F. ·s admission and that Patient R.F. subsequently "began to di splay symptoms of 

agitation." 
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Patient Name: 
Physician: I van L. Ma.aorana, MD 

PARK ROYAL HOSPlTAL 
9241 Park Royal Drive 
Ft. Myers, FL 33908 

Phone: (239) 985-2700 

Patient Number: 68704 
Admission Date: 12/28/2016 
Discharge Dute: 01/26/2017 

DISCHARGES MMARY 

ADMISSIO ' A.""D UISCHARGE DIAGNOSES: 
I. Neurocogniti, e disorder with behavioral symptoms. 
2. I lypcrtension. 
3. Arthritis. 
4. Prostate cancer. 
5. Osteoporosis. 

Sl 1M:\JA RY: The patient is un 80-} ear-old gent lemon ,,ho was admitted ,.,ith a cluef complaint of "l 
nrn al the \'tall" I le was placed under a Raker Act d11c 10 ph) sical ugg,c:,sion at the nur.,ing. l~Cll~li:. 1 he 
patient ,, as admitted 10 Park Ro) al l fospital and wa.., placed 011 u drug holidn) . PiiPr to athlllSSIClll tl!c 
pJtic111 had hccn nn Dcpakntc. amcn<la Risrcrdal .rnd donq,vi I I h~ patic11t. alh:1 ,cH·r:il da) s of 
hl·inµ off ol ps~ chnlrl1p1c <lnig!,, hc~~in to <lispl:1~ ..,~ mptom~ of agitation. I le ,\;1, plac~d tm I laldt,I aoJ 

• •• • •• • • , , • - .. • • • t t • • , • L! _ 1- - • ---' u ~ \UQ -..:. 

2 16. Because Patient S.S. 's medical condition could not reasonably be expected to 

improve, Patient S.S. did not meet the criteria for admission to PRH for inpatient treatment. 

Patient S.F. 

217. PRH properly admi tted Patient S.F. for inpatient treatment at PRH but kept 

Patient S.F. approximately two weeks after Patient S.F. was stable and safe for release before 

discharging Patient S.F. 

218. PRH paperwork for Patient S. F. dated November 18, 2016, shows that Patient S.F. 

was a Medicare patient, admitted for inpatient treatment on December 26, 2016 and discharged 

29 days later on January 24, 201 7. 
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PAGE 1 AR0R9A 
2/13/17 

PARK ROYAL HOSPITAL 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE STATOS REPORT TIME : 1:05 PM 

ACCOUNT NO.- - > 0965249 TYPE: I GUARANTOR NO . --> 0018378 

DATE BILLED ------ > 
TOTAL CHARGED----> 
CURRENT DUE------> 

HOSP SRV CODE: ADl 
FIN~.NCIAL CLS : M 
SSN: 142-96-3691 
ADMITTED----> 12/26/16 
DISCHARGED--> : / 24 / 17 

2/01/17 
43,500.00 
20,863.54 

PHYSICIAN : RODRIGUEZ JUAN 

NO. OF PAYMENTS ------- > 
DATE OF LAST PAYMENT--> 
LAST PAYMENT AMOUNT---> 
NO. OF STATEMENTS-----> 
DATE LAST STATEMENT --- > 
LAST STMT . AMOUNT-----> 
LAST LETTER NUMBER----> 

.00 
00 

43,500 . 00 
00 

PAYOR 1 155 
PAYOR 2 000 
PAYOR 3 000 

PLAN 1 001 MEDICARE 
PLAN 2 000 

POLICY# 090327130Cl 
POLICY# 

PLAN 3 000 POLICY# 

219. Patient S.F. s Progress Note dated January 9, 2017, lacks any information to 

justify a continued stay at PRH. The Progress Note says that Patient S.F. reported "I am doing 

good, I feel ready to go." The Progress Note also says that 'at this time [the] patient does not 

present an acute danger to self or others due to psychiatric illness or defect and is ready for 

discharge. The patient is alert. She is or iented x4 .... She denies suicidal or homicidal ideas, 

plans or intents. She is not psychotic at this time." In addition, the Progress Note says Patient 

S.F. was scheduled for di scharge on January 10, 2017. 
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DA TE: 01/09/2017 

UNIT: 2 East. 

PROGRESS NOTE 

Patiem seen, chart reviewed. Staff consulted. 

"l am doing good, I f cd ready to go." 

I reviewed the notes from the weekend. On 0 1/08 the patient complained to Zahcer Aslam, MD that she 
was sli ff from Haldol however al Lhis time the patient docs not appear 10 be stiff. There arc no tremors. 
There are no .ibnomrnl involuntary movements. No cogwheel rigidity. The patient appears to have 
responded ,\ell to the tre~trm:nt regimen \t this time. 11 is my clinical opinion that this patient docs not 
prc!>cnt an acute danger to sell or others dut.: to psychiatric illness or defect anti is ready for discharge. 

I he paLil·nt is nlert. Sht.: is orientctl x4. She is groomed at this time She dcni1.:s suicidal or homicidal 
1tlcas. plans or intents. She 1s not ps) chotic at this ti1111.:. She is pleasant. coopcrntiw. casil)- engaged 
C..hc 1s cogni11,·el) iniact. 1 lcr insight 1s fai1 . lier judgment is good. I kr impulse control i!-- 1111ac1 

DIAGNOSTIC IMPRESSION: Schizoaffective disorder, bipolar type, f25 .0. 

PLA~: Continue present management and ctiscbarge patient to home tomorrO\\ in a.m. 

()(- /0 - 'l,()17 / f)t(J (J ------=---------"-
(Date and Time) 

D: 01 /09/2017 12:13:50 EST 
T: 0l /09/2017 12:15:47EST/M1S1112/ 11539188 
JOB#: 2913927 

Patient S.S. 

220. PRH admitted Patient S.S., a 94-year-old with dementia, for one month of 

inpatient treatment even though he only needed treatment for several days to implement a new 

medication regime. 

221. PR.I-I paperwork for Patient S.S. shows that Patient S.S. was a Medicare patient, 

admitted for inpatient treatment on December 2 1, 20 16, and discharged 30 days later on January 

20, 2017. 
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PARK ROYAL HOSPITAL 
::):,. .,NOSES / PROCEDURES VALIDA'.1 "'vN PAGE: 1 

Date: 1/27/17 
Time: 15:20:16 

PATIENT NAME: 
PATIENT NO : 965194 
ADMISSION DATE: 12 / 21 / 16 
FC: M MEDICARE 
PHYSICIAN: 00001 

AGE: 94 SEX: MALE 
CHART NO: 000068657 HISTORY NO: 000068657 
9ISCHARGE DATE: 01/ 20/ 17 
SRV:AOl ACUTE PSYCH GERIATRI 
DISCHA.~GE STATUS: 03 SKILLED NURSING FACI 

222. PRI-1 paperwork for Patient S.S. shows that PRH involuntarily admitted Patient 

S.S., a 94-year-old man with dementia, under Florida's Baker Act for " threaten[ing] to kiJI 

someone who allegedly stole his wallet." 

Patient Name: 
Physician: fvan L. M11Z7orana, MD 

ADMJTTlNG DIAGNOSES: 

PARK ROYAL HOSPITAL 
9241 Park Royal Drive 
Ft. Myers. FL 33908 

Phone: (239) 985-2700 

Patient Number: 68657 
Admission Date: 12/21/2016 
Discharge Date: 01/20/2017 

DISCHARGE SUMMARY 

I . Dementia with behavioral symptoms. 
2. I lypertcnsion. 
3. Gout. 
4. B 12 deficiency. 
5. Poor mobilil) . 

l)l CHARGE DIAGNOSES: 
I. Dcmcmia \\ ilh behavioral symptoms. 
2. I lypcrtension. 
3. Gout. 
4. 812 deficiency. 
5. Poor mobility. 

HISTORY: ·n1e JlUticrn is a 911-ycar-old g~ntlcmnn tH.lmincd to Park Rlly:il Hospital under the Baker 
Act allcr he threatened tu kill someone who allegedly stole hii. ,,allct. l11is is in lhc context of 
significant cogniti, c impuirrncnt. 

223. PRH only needed several days to implement a new medjcation regime to stabi lize 

Patient S.S. 's aggression, yet PRH kept Patient S.S. for one month to provide him additional 
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treatment from which he could not reasonably be expected to benefit as a 94-year-old with 

dementia. 

Patient I.A. 

224. PRJ-1 properly admitted Patient T.A. for inpatient treatment at PRH but kept 

Patient I.A. approximately three weeks after Patient T.A. was stable and safe for release before 

di scharging Patient I.A. 

225. PRH paperwork for Patient T.A. dated November 18, 2016, shows that Patient 

I.A. was a Medicare patient, admitted for inpatient treatment on October 12, 2016, and 

discharged 34 days later on November 15, 2016. 

PARK ROYAL HOSPITAL 
DlAGNOSES / PROCEDURES VALIDA JN PAGE: 1 

Date: 11/18/16 
Time: 10:26:29 

PATIENT NAME: 
PATIENT NO: 964238 
ADMISSION DATE: 10/11/16 
FC: M MED:::CARE 
PHYSICIAN: 00001 

AGE: 54 SEX: MALE 
CHART NO: 000065572 HISTORY NO: 00006S572 
DISCHARGE DATE: 11/15/16 
SRV:AWl ACUTE DUAL DIAG 
DISCHARGE STATOS: 01 DISCHARGED HOME/SELF 

226. Patient T.A.'s Progress Note dated October 27, 2016, lacks any information that 

would justi fy a continued stay at PRH. The Progress Note says that Patient I.A. " [s]hows no sign 

and symptoms at the moment, is "pleasant" and "cooperative," 'denies anxiety or depression," 

"denies any suicidal or homicidal plans at present time," "[d]enies audio, visual, tactile, 

hallucinations at this moment,' and " is alert, oriented x3 ." In addition the Progress Note says 

that PRH is "working on di scharging the patient soon." 

227. As provided above, these are fa lse "code words" that indicate PRH is merely 

running up the bill to Medicare for a patient that does not need treatment services. 
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PROGRESS NOTE 

DATE: I 0/27/2016 

SUBJECTIVE: - is seen today. Chan reviewed. Case discussed with staff. The patient 
looks better, he looks brighter. No more drowsiness, no more slurred speech. He tells me that he is 
sleeping and eatiJ1g better. 

LABS: Mosl recent labs shows no new labs. 

VITAL SIG S : Blood pressure 97/60. Temperature 96.8, the heru1 rate 53 per minute, respiratory rate 
16 per minute. 

REVIEW OF SYSTEMS: Show no sign an<l symptoms at the moment. < 
l\1E1 T AL ST A TUS EXA:\1: The patient b pleasant. he is coopcrauvc. I le shows better eye contact. 
Speech 1s more clear. more articulated. Thought process more linear more organized Tho patient is 
tell mg me "l foe] better." The patient demcs anx1cl)- or depression. At the moment the patient denies any 
suicidal or homicidal plans al present time. Denies audio. visual, tactile, hallucinations at this moment 
;,lo delusions present or elicited. The patient 1s alert, onented x3 Bcner insight, better Judgment, and 
better memory to recent and remote events. 

PROGRESS NOTE 

AXJS Jl: ~one. 

PLAN: To continue hosp11alization. My plan 1s to conunuc tapenng down the Valium. We are 
,vorkmg on discharging the:: patient soon. 

Nelson Hernandez, MD (Date and Time) 

D: 10/27/2016 14:08:33 EST 
T: 10/27/2016 14:10:48 ESTIMISl629/ l l 281903 
JOB#: 2810209 

F. Online Google Reviews about PRU 

228. Online Google reviews by former PRH patients and their famil ies use descriptions 

to describe PRH staff and their experience such as a ')oke," "waste of time," "total nightmare," 

"heartless," and "rude." 
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229. In describing PRH, a former patient posted, "I wouldn't recommend [PRH] to 

anyone. I was given incorrect doses of medications & almost another patient[']s medication. The 

groups were mandatory. They didn't address any of my issues. We played games & music .... 

neither of which helped with my psychiatric issues. I was a voluntary admit & was kept for 9 

days. Other patients who were there under [Florida's Baker Act were] discharged earlier. I 

received more support from other patients who were on my unit. There were rules which applied 

to some patients & not to others. Do not send a loved one here. It was a waste of time." 

[ emphasis added] 

230. In describing PRH, another former PRH patient posted, "If you or a loved one 

ever need a mental health facility NEVER go to Park Royal Hospital in Ft. Myers!! It's the 

worst!!! A total nightmare-no family involvement-no support-only drugs and lock up! -

Condescending, patronizing doctor and heartless staff. This place needs to be shut down!!" 

[ emphasis added] 

231. In describing PRH, another former PRH patient posted, "The doctors discharge 

~e wrong patients at the wrong time and keep the saner ones longer. They discharged a patient 

when she was there for 15 days and she said she got no treatment for her depression whatsoever." 

232. Online Google reviews by PRH employees also describe management problems at 

PRH and use descriptions such as "awful," "corrupt," "nightmarish," and "unethical." 

233. In describing PRH, a former PRH Mental Health Technician posted on January 

14, 2014, that "There is so much bull that goes on out there, you will be [in] shock .... Most of 

the time the mental health techs are doing the nurses['] assessments on the patients, the blood 

draws, [EK Gs, etc.] They force medication into patients against their will .... They believe in 

violating patients['] rights across the board." 
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234. In describing PRH, another former PRH Mental Health Technician posted on 

April 20, 2014, that "I worked [the] night shift for three weeks and that was enough. The 'Mental 

health technician' position is really a [Certified Nursing Assistant]. I had no training and was put 

into a position of changing diapers, taking vitals while taking orders from people while they 

either sleep, read books or play on their phones. Do your research before taking a job at this 

place." 

235. In describing PRH, a PRH employee posted on January 14, 2015, that PRH was a 

"[v]ery poorly managed facility from its inception .... [Acadia] is more focused on acquisitions 

then employee retention, patient care or improving their facility .... They are only interested in 

maldng money by any means possible, and at any cost . ... [T]his is the greediest company I have 

ever worked for. They make Gordon Gekko look like a philanthropist. I am finally leaving this 

facility. Good riddance!" [emphasis added] 

236. In describing PRH, a PRH Intake Specialist posted on February 6, 2015, that "I 

have worked here a couple of years now and there still remains a significant disconnect in 

communication, and leadership with management, and other departments within Park Royal 

Hospital. There is [a] high turnover rate due to poor moral[e], disorganization, and dysfunctional 

management." 

237. In describing PRH, a former PRH Utilization Review Specialist posted on July 

10, 2015, that "One of[Acadia's] regional CEO's is an ex-felon. This place is corrupt, and 

unethical - the regional CEO asked patients to stay longer even though they were ordered by the 

doctor to be discharged. Nasty, verbally abusive directors. This place needs to be shut down." 

[ emphasis added] 
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238. In describing PRH, a former PRH Housekeeping Supervisor posted on July 29, 

2016, that "I tried to make things better while I was there and make the management aware of 

the issues but the management only seemed to care about themselves and the money and bonuses 

that they were receiving." [ emphasis added] 

239. In describing PRH, a former PRH Insurance Collection Specialist posted on 

August 17, 2016, that PRH's Chief Executive Officer "has no clue on the care for patients and 

it[']s all about making money and not helping the sick people." 

II. Defendants Are Engaged In An Unlawful Kickback Arrangement 

240. Defendants have a financial quid pro quo that allows them to maximize profits 

and ignores patients' medical conditions. 

241. PRH sends insured patients to hospitals within the Lee Health system for non

psychiatric medical services that are billed to Medicare and Medicaid - including medically 

unnecessary services and services never rendered to PRH's patients - and Lee Health 

compensates PRH for admitting and treating uninsured patients who require emergency medical 

care. 

242. Lee Health has "medical-surgical" beds for which they can charge insurers $1,400 

per day for patient care. 

243. Instead of filling its medical-surgical beds with uninsured individuals who require 

emergency medical care that could otherwise be filled by insured individuals who require 

emergency medical care, Lee Health pays PRH $500 per day for five days ($2,500 total) to take 

in the uninsured individuals who PRH agrees to provide an additional two weeks of 

complimentary inpatient care. 
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244. The arrangement between Lee Health and PRH, which was negotiated when PRH 

opened, results in a net gain to Lee Health of $900 per patient per day ($1,400 - $500) and a 

benefit to PRH of $500 per patient per day plus the value of any claims for payment submitted 

for services rendered to these patients. 

245. Some months PRH has accepted as many as eight uninsured individuals turned 

away from Lee Health, netting PRH roughly $20,000 per month ($2,500 x 8). 

246. Lee Health also benefits from PRH's Medicare and Medicaid patients who PRH 

sends to Lee Health for routine medical services the patients do not need and/or which PRH is 

able to provide according to their license and accreditation but chooses not to. Examples include 

sending patients out for possible dehydration - PRH only administers IVs when treating patients 

with ECT - and removal of sutures. Unlike Lee Health which can bill for those services 

separately, PRH receives a bundled payment from Medicare and cannot bill for those services 

separately. 

24 7. IPF patients - who have multiple medical conditions and prescriptions - are a 

vulnerable patient population. Moving them back and forth between medical facilities is 

disruptive and stressful for them, and exposes them to increased risk from falls and other 

injuries. 

248. Lee Health sends PRH patients back to PRH without records about what medical 

services, if any, Lee Health rendered to them. 

249. Lee Health bills Medicare and Medicaid for the medically unnecessary services 

and services never provided to PRH's patients, as well as services enumerated above that PRH is 

able to provide according to their license and accreditation but chooses not to. 
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III. PRU Terminated Snyder's Employment For Disclosing His Concerns About PRH's 
Unlawful Business Practices 

250. PRH terminated Snyder on February 28, 2017, after Snyder complained on 

multiple occasions about PRH admitting individuals who did not meet IPF criteria and refusing 

admission of uninsured individuals who required emergency medical care for mental illness. 

251. On January 30, 2017, one month before his termination, Snyder received a 

positive 90-day performance review from Ham. Snyder was supposed to receive the 90-day 

performance review in August 2016 after his promotion to Admissions Director in April 2016. 

252. That same day, PRH admitted two uninsured individuals who required emergency 

medical care for mental illness and, in accordance with federal law, IPFs must admit for 

treatment. 

253. Ham subsequently ordered Snyder during a daily staff meeting to instruct his staff 

to call Ham prior to admitting an uninsured individual to get his permission before admitting 

uninsured individuals. 

254. In response to Ham's command, Snyder told Ham he could not do that because 

PRH had to admit uninsured individuals who required emergency medical care for mental 

illness in accordance with PRH's written policies and the federal Emergency Medical Treatment 

and Labor Act. 

255. On previous occasions, Ham ordered Snyder's staff to demand payment up front 

from uninsured individuals or not to admit them. Snyder was uncomfortable with the demand 

and refused to tum away individuals without insurance if they required emergency medical care 

for mental illness. 

256. Snyder again complained about PRH's unlawful business practices on the same 

day he was terminated, February 28, 2017. 
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257. On February 28, 2017, Snyder received two missed calls from Hull and two 

missed call from Paul Rogers, Chief Financial Officer for PRH. 

258. Snyder first returned Rogers call on February 28, 2017. 

259. Rogers told Snyder during their February 28, 2017, phone conversation that a 

Medicare recipient who was previously denied admission for inpatient treatment at PRH was 

returning to PRH for a reevaluation, or words to that effect. Rogers also told Snyder that Hull 

felt it was a mistake to previously deny the individual admission for inpatient treatment and 

wanted the individual admitted for inpatient treatment, or words to that effect. 

260. Snyder told Rogers something to the effect that he would look at the referral 

information and keep an eye out for the individual when they got to PRH. 

261. The patient's evaluator recorded on the individual's referral form that the 

individual had autism, a developmental disability, and bipolar disorder, in that order. 

262. Evaluators generally list the various conditions patients have in order of 

importance from most important to least important. 

263. Snyder had a conversation with Chris Hansen, Director of Business Development 

for PRH, after speaking with Rogers by phone on February 28, 2017, during which Snyder 

stated that the individual did not previously meet IPF criteria for inpatient treatment and that 

Hull was now pressuring him to admit the individual anyway, or words to that effect. 

264. In response to Snyder, Hansen said, "It doesn't have to be an argument man. Just 

admit him!" or words to that effect. 

265. In reply, Snyder told Hansen, "It bothers me that our policy is 'we don't do 

evaluations over the phone, except when John Hull wants us to apparently,"' or words to that 

effect. 
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266. Snyder returned Hull's call after his conversation with Hansen on February 28, 

2017, and said that he had already spoken to Rogers and knew the individual was returning for a 

reevaluation. 

267. In response to Snyder, Hull said that the reevaluation was an opportunity to 

"correct their mistake," a reference to PRH previously denying the individual admission for 

inpatient treatment. Hull also asked Snyder to let him know when the individual was admitted. 

268. PRH terminated Snyder's employment after Snyder objected to the patient's 

admission on February 28, 2017. 

269. After Snyder was terminated and escorted out of PRH on February 28, 2017, the 

individual was reevaluated and admitted voluntarily 

270. In light of the individual's diagnosis and medical history, Snyder was correct in 

objecting to the patient's admission. 

271. Generally, individuals with multiple disabilities who are a threat to themselves or 

others do not have the capacity to sign paperwork for voluntarily admitting themselves, yet 

PRH allowed the individual - who according to the referral information had autism, a 

developmental disability, and bi-polar disorder - to voluntarily admit himself for inpatient 

treatment at PRH. 

272. Generally, individuals with autism or developmental disabilities cannot be 

admitted involuntarily either; therefore, if the individual could not have been admitted 

voluntarily, the individual could not have been admitted involuntarily. 

273. The first time the individual was at PRH, the individual was evaluated by Jeff 

Bush, a licensed clinician, who determined the individual did not meet IPF criteria for inpatient 

treatment. 
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274. The individual had recently been hospitalized at Saluscare and given a 

prescription for a mood stabilizer and an anxiolytic that the individual's parents had not filled 

but would have helped relieve the individual's symptoms. 

275. Saluscare is another provider of mental health and substance abuse services in 

Fort Myers, Florida, that offers a variety of outpatient services but only offers inpatient 

treatment for substance abuse. 

276. Instead of filling the individual's prescription, the individual's parents took him 

back to Saluscare and sought to have him admitted. 

277. Saluscare refused to admit the individual, because, as was also determined by 

PRH clinician Bush, the individual did not meet admission criteria. 

278. While evaluating the individual at PRH, Bush got the impression that the parents 

wanted a respite from the individual for a while. 

279. Throughout Bush's assessment, the individual was calm and cooperative. The 

individual showed no signs of psychosis, aggressiveness, or suicidal tendencies. Bush did not 

believe there was a valid reason at that time to admit the individual and the individual was not 

admitted for inpatient treatment at PRH. 

280. Kate Weil was the case manager for the individual. 

281. Weil previously worked at PRH when Hull was a Group Chief Executive Officer 

for Acadia. 

282. Hull and Weil called Snyder to discuss the individual's admission. 

283. During Snyder's conversation with Hull and Weil, Hull said something to the 

effect of needing PRH to fix the situation for the individual's family so they would be willing to 

return to PRH. 
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284. After Snyder's conversation with Hull and Weil, Hull called Snyder back and 

censured Snyder for PRH not admitting the individual. Hull said something to the effect of the 

following: "This is something you have to get ... If you're going to be an Admissions Director, 

you have to understand the business ... I am not talking about clinical stuff ... You need to 

understand that if someone has Medicare, and they are looking for help, we are in the business 

of giving them that help ... He's got Medicare! No pre-certs. No review. This is a slam dunk 

buddy!" or words to that effect. 

285. Before ending the phone conversation, Hull apologized to Snyder for getting so 

heated and told Snyder something to the effect of the following: (a) that he was anxious about 

having to go back to Tennessee to explain his division's poor performance; (b) missing 

individuals like this individual was one of the reasons PRH was not hitting it numbers; and (c) 

"Now I'm not saying this happens every day, but, you know, I'm there for one day and this is 

what I see." 

286. Immediately thereafter, PRH terminated Snyder's employment. 

COUNT I: Federal False Claims Act Violations 
31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(A) 

Medical Non-Necessity Claims 
(As to the Individually Named Defendants, PRU, and Acadia) 

287. Relators Tirado and Snyder incorporate all of the allegations set forth in the 

foregoing paragraphs as though fully alleged herein. 

288. In order to properly bill the government for medical services, those services must 

be medically necessary. 

289. The Individually Named Defendants, PRH, and Acadia admit insured individuals 

for inpatient treatment at PRH who do not meet IPF criteria for admission, keeps patients longer 
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than medically necessary, and bills Medicare for medically unnecessary services and services 

never rendered to them. 

290. Defendants Ham and Hull, both Acadia employees, instruct PRH staff to admit 

insured individuals for inpatient treatment at PRH and keep them longer than medically 

necessary. 

291. Defendant PRH administers ECT treatment to involuntarily admitted patients who 

are legally incompetent to provide express and informed consent to ECT treatment. PRH 

changes the admission status of involuntarily admitted patients to voluntary, administers ECT 

treatment, and changes their admission status back to involuntary. 

292. Set forth more fully above, Relators have identified specific representative 

patients for which the Individually Named Defendants, PRH, and Acadia provided ineligible or 

medically unnecessary services but billed the United States for those services anyway. 

293. The false statements and claims for payment were material to the government's 

decision to pay. When submitting a claim for payment, providers must certify that the treatment 

provided is medically necessary and in accordance with CMS guidelines. 

294. But-for Defendants' submission of these claims and their false certifications 

regarding medical necessity, the government would not have reimbursed Defendants for their 

services. 

295. The Defendants acted with the requisite scienter. Statements from Ham and Hull 

indicate that they knew and understood admission and eligibility requirements, but disregarded 

those requirements in order to increase profits at PRH. 
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296. The false claims PRH submitted to Medicare are violations of the Federal False 

Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(A), and have cost the United States Government and 

taxpayers millions of dollars. 

COUNT II: Federal False Claims Act Violations 
31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(B) 

Medical Non-Necessity Claims 
(As to the Individually Named Defendants, PRH, and Acadia) 

297. Relators Tirado and Snyder incorporate all of the allegations set forth in the 

foregoing paragraphs as though fully alleged herein. 

298. Any person who knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false 

record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval is liable under 

the False Claims Act. 

299. Defendant PRH falsifies patient records to admit insured individuals for inpatient 

treatment at PRH who do not meet IPF criteria for admission and keep insured patients for 

inpatient treatment at PRH longer than medically necessary. 

300. As set forth more fully above, Defendants Ham and Hull, Acadia employees, 

instruct PRH staff to use code words in patient records to justify keeping patients when not 

medically necessary while evading detection by Medicare. 

301. The false records PRH created were used to support false claims PRH submitted 

to Medicare in violation of the Federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(A)-(B), and 

have cost the United States Government and taxpayers millions of dollars. 
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COUNT III: Florida False Claims Act Violations 
Fla. Stat.§ 68.082(2)(a) 

Medical Non-Necessity Claims 
(As to the Individually Named Defendants, PRH, and Acadia) 

302. Relators Tirado and Snyder incorporate all of the allegations set forth in the 

foregoing paragraphs as though fully alleged herein. 

303. Any person who knowingly presents or causes to be presented a false or 

fraudulent claim for payment or approval to any State of Florida employee, officer, or agent is 

liable to the State of Florida. 

304. In order to properly bill the government for medical services, those services must 

be medically necessary. 

305. The Individually Named Defendants, PRH, and Acadia admit insured individuals 

for inpatient treatment at PRH who do not meet IPF criteria for admission, keeps patients longer 

than medically necessary, and bills Medicaid for medically unnecessary services and services 

never rendered to them. 

306. Defendants Ham and Hull, both Acadia employees, instruct PRH staff to admit 

insured individuals for inpatient treatment at PRH and keep them longer than medically 

necessary. 

307. The Individually Named Defendants, PRH, and Acadia provided ineligible or 

medically unnecessary services but billed the State of Florida for those services anyway. 

308. The false statements and claims for payment were material to the government's 

decision to pay. When submitting a claim for payment, providers must certify that the treatment 

provided is medically necessary and in accordance with CMS guidelines. 
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309. But-for Defendants' submission of these claims and their false certifications 

regarding medical necessity, the government would not have reimbursed Defendants for their 

services. 

310. The Defendants acted with the requisite scienter. Statements from Ham and Hull 

indicate that they knew and understood admission and eligibility requirements, but disregarded 

those requirements in order to increase profits at PRH. 

311. The false claims PRH submitted to Medicaid are violations of the Florida False 

Claims Act, Fla. Stat.§ 68.082(2)(a), and have cost the State of Florida and taxpayers millions of 

dollars. 

COUNT IV: Florida False Claims Act Violations 
Fla. Stat. § 68.082(2)(b) 

Medical Non-Necessity Claims 
(As to the Individually Named Defendants, PRH, and Acadia) 

312. Relators Tirado and Snyder incorporate all of the allegations set forth in the 

foregoing paragraphs as though fully alleged herein. 

313. Any person who knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used a false 

record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim presented to any State of Florida 

employee, officer, or agent is liable to the State of Florida. 

314. Defendant PRH falsifies patient records to admit insured individuals for inpatient 

treatment at PRH who do not meet IPF criteria for admission and keep insured patients for 

inpatient treatment at PRH longer than medically necessary. 

315. Defendants Ham and Hull, Acadia employees instruct PRH staff to use code 

words in patient records to justify keeping patients when not medically necessary while evading 

detection by Medicaid. 
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316. The false records PRH created were used to support false claims PRH submitted 

to Medicaid in violation of the Florida False Claims Act, Fla. Stat.§ 68.082(2)(a)-(b), and have 

cost the State of Florida and taxpayers millions of dollars. 

COUNT V: Federal False Claims Act Violations 
31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(A) 

Violations of the Anti-Kickback Statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b, et seq. 
(As to All Defendants) 

31 7. Relators Tirado and Snyder incorporate all of the allegations set forth in the 

foregoing paragraphs as though fully alleged herein. 

318. Whoever knowingly and willfully solicits or receives any remuneration (including 

any kickback, bribe, or rebate) directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind in 

return for referring an individual to a person for the furnishing or arranging for the furnishing of 

any item or service for which payment may be made in whole or in part under a Federal health 

care program, or in return for purchasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging for or recommending 

purchasing, leasing, or ordering any good, facility, service, or item for which payment may be 

made in whole or in part under a Federal health care program, constitutes a false or fraudulent 

claim for purposes ofsubchapter III of chapter 37 of title 31. 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(l), (g) (the 

"Anti-Kickback Statute" or "AKS"). 

319. Whoever knowingly and willfully offers or pays any remuneration (including any 

kickback, bribe, or rebate) directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind to any 

person to induce such person to refer an individual to a person for the furnishing or arranging for 

the furnishing of any item or service for which payment may be made in whole or in part under a 

Federal health care program, or to purchase, lease, order, or arrange for or recommend 

purchasing, leasing, or ordering any good, facility, service, or item for which payment may be 
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made in whole or in part under a Federal health care program, constitutes a false or fraudulent 

claim for purposes of subchapter III of chapter 37 of title 31. 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(l ), (g). 

320. With respect to violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b, a person need not have actual 

knowledge of 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b or specific intent to commit a violation of 42 U.S.C. § 

1320a-7b. 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(h). 

321. A violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute is a per se violation of the False Claims 

Act, and any claims submitted pursuant to the unlawful kickback arrangement are false, with or 

without regard to the medical necessity of the treatment being reimbursed. 

322. Defendants Lee Health and PRH are knowingly and willfully engaged in an 

unlawful financial kickback arrangement that allows them to maximize profits. 

323. Lee Health and PRH entered into an agreement whereby PRH sends patients to 

Lee Health for routine medical care and tests that PRH is capable of performing itself. In 

exchange, Lee Health agrees to refer its uninsured patients to PRH and pays Lee Health a 

kickback of $500 per patient per day. 

324. The financial arrangement between Lee Health and PRH is a violation of the Anti

Kickback Statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b, et seq., and is, therefore, a per se violation of the False 

Claims Act. 

COUNT VI: Federal False Claims Act Violations 
31 U.S.C. § 3730(h) 

Retaliation as to Snyder 

325. Relator Snyder incorporates all of the allegations set forth in the foregoing 

paragraphs as though fully alleged herein. 

326. Any employee, contractor, or agent shall be entitled to all relief necessary to make 

that employee, contractor, or agent whole, if that employee, contractor, or agent is discharged, 
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demoted, suspended, threatened, harassed, or in any other manner discriminated against in the 

terms and conditions of employment because of lawful acts done by the employee, contractor, 

agent or associated others in furtherance of an action under 31 U.S.C. § 3730 or other efforts to 

stop one or more violations of31 U.S.C. Subtitle III, Chapter 37, Subchapter III. 31 U.S.C. § 

3730(h)(l ). 

327. Defendant PRH terminated Snyder's employment for disclosing his concerns 

about PRH's unlawful business practices. 

328. Before PRH terminated his employment, Snyder complained on multiple 

occasions about PRH admitting individuals who did not meet IPF criteria. 

329. On February 28, 2017, the day of his termination, Defendant Hull censured 

Snyder for refusing to admit an individual Snyder thought did not meet IPF criteria for inpatient 

treatment at PRH. 

330. The close temporal proximity between Snyder's protected statements-the last of 

which occurred on the very day of his termination - is suggestive of causation. 

331. In addition, Snyder's positive performance evaluations prior to his engaging in 

protected conduct is further suggestive of causation. 

332. But-for Snyder's protected conduct, Defendants would not have terminated his 

employment. 

333. By terminating Snyder in retaliation for complaining about PRH's unlawful 

business practices, PRH violated the Federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h). 
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COUNT VII: Florida Whistleblower Protection Statute Violations 
Fla. Stat. §§ 448.101-448.103, et seq. 

Retaliation as to Snyder 

334. Relator Snyder incorporates all of the allegations set forth in the foregoing 

paragraphs as though fully alleged herein. 

335. An employer may not take any retaliatory personnel action against an employee 

because the employee has objected to, or refused to participate in, any activity, policy, or practice 

of the employer which is in violation of a law, rule, or regulation. Fla. Stat. § 448.102(3). 

336. Snyder was an "employee" and Defendant PRH is an "employer" as the terms are 

defined by the Florida Whistleblower Protection Statute. 

337. PRH terminated Snyder's employment for disclosing his concerns about PRH's 

unlawful business practices. 

338. Before PRH terminated his employment, Snyder complained on multiple 

occasions about PRH admitting individuals who did not meet IPF criteria and refusing admission 

of uninsured individuals who required emergency medical care for mental illness. 

339. The refusal to admit uninsured individuals who require emergency medical care 

for mental illness is a violation of state and federal statutes and regulations, including but not 

limited to Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1395dd, et seq. and Florida 

Rights of Patients Statute, Fla. Stat. § 394.459, et seq. 

340. The close temporal proximity between Snyder's protected statements- the last of 

which occurred on the very day of his termination - is suggestive of causation. 

341. In addition, Snyder's positive performance evaluations prior to his engaging in 

protected conduct is further suggestive of causation. 
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342. But-for Snyder's protected conduct, Defendants would not have terminated his 

employment. 

343. By terminating Snyder in retaliation for complaining about PRH's unlawful 

business practices, PRH violated the Florida Whistleblower Protection Statute, Fla. Stat. §§ 

448.101-448.103, et seq. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Relators Tirado and Snyder, acting on behalf of and in the name of the 

United States of America and the State of Florida, and on their own behalf, prays that judgment 

will be entered against Defendants for violating the Federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 

et seq., violating the Florida False Claims Act, Fla. Stat.§ 68.081 et seq., violating the Anti

Kickback Statute, 42 U .S.C. § 1320a-7b, retaliation in violation of the False Claims Act, 31 

U.S.C. § 3730(h), and retaliation in violation of the Florida Whistleblower Protection Statute, 

Fla. Stat.§§ 448.101-448.103, et seq. as follows: 

a. That for violations of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §3 729, et seq., this Court enter 

judgment against the Defendants in an amount equal to three times the amount of 

damages the United States Government has sustained because of the Defendants' 

unlawful business practices, plus the maximum allowable civil penalty for each act in 

violation of31 U.S.C. §3729, et seq.; 

b. That for violations of the Florida False Claims Act, Fla. Stat. § 68.081, et seq., this Court 

enter judgment against the Defendants in an amount equal to three times the amount of 

damages the State of Florida has sustained because of the Defendants' unlawful business 

practices, plus the maximum allowable civil penalty each act in violation of Fla. Stat. § 
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68.081, et seq.; 

c. That for retaliation in violation of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h) and the 

Florida Whistleblower Protection Statute, Fla. Stat. §§ 448.101-448.103, this Court enter 

judgment in favor of Relator Snyder for two times the amount of Relator Snyder's back 

pay, interest on the back pay, and compensation for any special damages sustained as a 

result of the discrimination, including litigation costs and reasonable attorneys' fees. 

d. That Relators Tirado and Snyder be awarded the maximum amount allowed pursuant to 

31 U.S.C. §3730(d), including the costs and expenses of this action and reasonable 

attorneys' fees;and 

e. That the United States Government, the State of Florida, and Relators Tirado and Snyder 

receive all other relief, both in law and equity, to which they are reasonably entitled. 

JURY DEMAND 

Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Relators Tirado and Snyder 

hereby demand a jury trial. 

April 11, 2017 Respectfully Submitted, 

Isl 
R. Scott Oswald, Esq. (Bar no. 158437) 
David Scher, Esq. (to be admitted pro hac vice) 
Andrew Witko, Esq. (to be admitted pro hac vice) 
The Employment Law Group, P.C. 
888 17th Street, NW, Suite 900 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
P: (202) 261-2803; F: (202) 261-2835 
dscher@employmentlawgroup.com 
soswald@employmentlawgroup.com 
awitko@employmentlawgroup.com 
Attorneys for Qui Tam Plaintiffs 
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